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 LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF ONTARIO ASSEMBLÉE LÉGISLATIVE DE L’ONTARIO 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON 
JUSTICE POLICY 

COMITÉ PERMANENT 
DE LA JUSTICE  

 Wednesday 31 January 2007 Mercredi 31 janvier 2007 

The committee met at 1006 in room 151. 

INDEPENDENT POLICE 
REVIEW ACT, 2007 

LOI DE 2007 SUR L’EXAMEN 
INDÉPENDANT DE LA POLICE 

Consideration of Bill 103, An Act to establish an 
Independent Police Review Director and create a new 
public complaints process by amending the Police 
Services Act / Projet de loi 103, Loi visant à créer le 
poste de directeur indépendant d’examen de la police et à 
créer une nouvelle procédure de traitement des plaintes 
du public en modifiant la Loi sur les services policiers. 

The Chair (Mr. Lorenzo Berardinetti): Good morn-
ing, everybody. The committee is now back in session. 
This is the standing committee on justice policy. 

KEITH HOWELL 
The Chair: Our first deputation this morning is Mr. 

Keith Howell. 
Good morning and welcome. The format is basically 

to allow you 20 minutes to speak, and the three parties 
will ask you questions during any time left over after 
your presentation. 

Mr. Keith Howell: I’d just like to make it clear that I 
have no axe to grind against the police. I was a police 
reporter for more than 12 years, and every day on a daily 
basis I was dealing with the police. I went out on patrol 
with police officers numerous times. I had very good 
relationships with police, mainly in North Bay and 
Brockville. I did numerous feature stories on policing 
every year, and frankly I think the cases that I have out-
lined here are very isolated. 

Just to give you an overview of the main points I’d 
like to make out of this, I think it’s really important to 
consider allowing third-party representation in the police 
complaints process. This is a very intimidating process. 
I’m somebody who as a reporter dealt with politicians 
and police on a daily basis. Even for me, it’s just been 
extremely frustrating the last two months, trying to get 
anything done about a mistake. Everybody makes mis-
takes. A police officer made certain mistakes on a police 
report, and to get it changed has been so frustrating. I 
think the average person would really have a hard time 
going through this. I really encourage you, as a part of 

the new system, to please consider third-party represent-
ation. In the case of my family member, she just could 
not have gone through this on her own. She has told me 
she would have had a nervous breakdown to navigate the 
whole process. 

Another thing is the six-month statute of limitations. I 
think that should be reconsidered—if you would please 
give that considerable thought. This case would not be 
brought forward if that were strictly applied here, and I 
think there’s a real injustice that’s been done and it 
wouldn’t be corrected, and others wouldn’t be corrected. 
I think there are other cases that are going to come 
behind us here that would benefit from this presentation, 
hopefully, so that nobody else has to go through the same 
kind of thing. 

Another point: The investigating officer in this case is 
still investigating our complaint, and I just don’t think 
that’s appropriate. I think it’s a conflict of interest. 

Another key aspect: I talked about an assault incident 
in November 2000. I really believe that for a full and 
complete examination of what happened there, you need 
the trial transcript. There was a trial, and there was a full 
acquittal that ruled that my family member acted in self-
defence. It’s all laid out there in the trial and yet the 
police have not, I have been told, ordered a copy of that 
transcript. 

How would you like to be raped, and then find out that 
the police report says you and your rapist are married, 
you’re recently separated after a six-year relationship and 
that you lived with your rapist’s mother for eight or nine 
months after the attack? There’s not a shred of truth to 
that, and police officers I’ve talked to agree, but the prob-
lem is getting it corrected. What do you do in a system 
like this to get a police report corrected? It is incredibly 
hard. I’ve been working on it for two months. Even 
though the police admit these mistakes that I just out-
lined—and that’s just the start; I think there are other 
mistakes too but I’ll just leave it at that—further to that, 
these mistakes are being used against my family member 
in order to get a restraining order, keeping somebody 
away from her, to get that quashed. It’s just created 
terrible consequences for our family. 

Basically I’ll just leave it at that. I’m open to any 
questions that you might have. Thank you. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation. We have 
about 15 minutes left, so five minutes per party. We’ll 
start with the Conservative Party. 
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Mr. Garfield Dunlop (Simcoe North): Thanks very 
much, Mr. Howell, for being here this morning. I haven’t 
really had a chance to go over your document because 
there’s a lot to it. Can you just briefly sum up the change 
you’d like to see? Are you familiar with the legislation? 

Mr. Howell: Yes. I’ve looked over it. 
Mr. Dunlop: Do you have one key recommendation 

that you’d like to see put forward at this point? 
Mr. Howell: Well, I see a problem, basically. How do 

you get a police report changed? If somebody says that 
you’re a child molester, for instance, and it’s on a police 
report, how do you go about getting that changed? It’s a 
frustrating process. It’s very intimidating. I know that 
one of the things you’re considering is whether there 
should be third party representation. I really encourage 
you to do that, if you can, because there are just so many 
people out there in the public who would run into brick 
walls and would not be able to go through with this. 

The six-month statute of limitations: I think there are 
so many injustices. I believe these are isolated incidents, 
but there are others that occur outside the six-month 
statute of limitations. I believe that that should be opened 
up. In a lot of cases there may be something written 
down in a police report, as we found, and if you don’t 
find out about it within six months, does that mean you 
shouldn’t be able to do anything about it? 

Again, I don’t think the investigating officer should be 
involved in a subsequent appeal in the complaints pro-
cess. 

Mr. Dunlop: That’s fine for me. 
The Chair: Thank you. Mr. Kormos. 
Mr. Peter Kormos (Niagara Centre): Thank you 

kindly. This is a troubling narration. I read the material 
you wrote while you were speaking. I hope you don’t 
mind, because I was listening to you as well. This inci-
dent, the crime, was in 2000? 

Mr. Howell: Yes. 
Mr. Kormos: You write in your material that last 

week a complaint was made to OCCPS? 
Mr. Howell: Yes. We tried to go through an informal 

process. I’ve dealt with the police a lot in the past 
through in my job, in my career, and I thought that prob-
ably something could be done; because there were ob-
vious mistakes, it would be easy for people to find out 
that this isn’t true. 

Mr. Kormos: Did you have a lawyer acting for you at 
any point, the family member, at any point during this 
process? 

Mr. Howell: Not in regard to the police, no. 
Mr. Kormos: Chair, I think all of us are concerned 

when there is a bona fide allegation made about a sexual 
assault, a rape, and when investigating police appear to 
prejudge the matter to the point where they don’t lay a 
charge. Quite frankly, even if the information you say 
was adopted by the police officer is true—spouse or 
common-law spouse living with mother-in-law—that 
doesn’t impact on an allegation of sexual assault. It’s a 
matter of, as we heard yesterday, “So what?” It’s ir-

relevant. Spouses can rape spouses while they’re married 
to each other, and that’s straightforward, clear-cut. This 
is disturbing. 

The problem is that yesterday the Ombudsman was 
here, and he spoke about this bill last May when he spoke 
to the Toronto Police Services Board. If you read this 
morning’s paper, you’ll see that the Ombudsman was 
successful in the case of one Ms. Aucoin, down where I 
come from, Jim Bradley’s constituent in St. Catharines, 
in persuading the government to fund some out-of-prov-
ince treatment for her. The Ombudsman described the 
process whereby health patients have to apply for and 
appeal decisions about out-of-province treatment and 
medication as being complex, irrational, illogical, and 
difficult to manoeuvre even for literate, well-educated 
people. This is the point I’m getting to: I believe, as does 
the Ombudsman, that it’s incredibly important that this 
new complaints process be capable of being reviewed by 
the Ombudsman, because even the best of complaints can 
be frustrated by a complaints process. In your case the 
informal complaints process was frustrating: complex 
brick walls after brick walls, right? 

Lord Jesus, why is the government resisting letting the 
Ombudsman be in a position of oversight of the new 
complaints procedure being proposed? Because just like 
you and your family member, if you’re frustrated by the 
process, you’ve got nobody to go to. You go to your 
MPP, and do you know what he or she is going to tell 
you? “Oh, I can’t get involved in those things.” Do you 
know what the Attorney General is going to tell you 
when you raise a question in question period? “Oh, it’s 
an arm’s-length body.” Not very gratifying, is it, Mr. 
Zimmer? Not very gratifying at all. 

Lord Jesus, if this man’s story here today doesn’t tell 
us how important it is to have the Ombudsman engaged 
in a role of oversight over a complaints body, then 
nothing. 

Thank you very much. You’ve made some compelling 
points here, and I wish you well in your complaint to 
OCCPS. Have you visited your MPP yet in the juris-
diction? This is in Peel? 

Mr. Howell: Yes. I don’t live in Peel— 
Mr. Kormos: That’s okay. But the incident is in Peel? 
Mr. Howell: Yes. 
Mr. Kormos: I encourage you, and again, I don’t 

want to impose more work on that member because that 
member is probably pretty busy, but that’s okay, because 
he or she is quite capable of writing to the Attorney Gen-
eral, the Solicitor General, calling for an investigation of 
this matter at that level. I encourage you to do that. 

Mr. Howell: Thank you. 
The Chair: We’ll move on to the Liberal Party. 
Mr. David Zimmer (Willowdale): Thank you very 

much for coming and sharing this story with us. I know 
it’s a delicate and sensitive issue with you and your 
family member, so it takes a certain amount of courage to 
come here and share that with us. I’ll reflect on what 
you’ve put before this committee. 

The Chair: Thank you for your submission today. 
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COMMUNITY AND LEGAL AID 
SERVICES PROGRAMME, 

YORK UNIVERSITY 
The Chair: We’ll move on then to our next depu-

tation: Community and Legal Aid Services Programme, 
CLASP, York University. 

Good morning. 
Mr. Rob Carson: Good morning. My name is Rob 

Carson. I’m a law student at Community and Legal Aid 
Services Programme, CLASP, a student legal aid clinic at 
Osgoode Hall Law School at York University. We are 
located in, and do most of our work in, the Jane-Finch 
community. 

I would like to begin by discussing the importance of 
an effective police complaints system in socially ex-
cluded communities like Jane and Finch. Second, I will 
turn to specific aspects of Bill 103 and how we believe 
the bill can be enhanced to improve the quality of the 
police complaints system and ultimately the quality of 
policing in Ontario. Specifically, I will speak about the 
need for independence from the police, informal resolu-
tion of complaints and third-party complaints. 

The police system cannot function without public trust 
and co-operation. During the second reading debate of 
Bill 103, many of the members cited the figure that 80% 
of Ontario citizens have faith in the police. However, I 
would like to stress that in a socially excluded com-
munity, such as Jane and Finch, this area of trust is 
substantially lower. In socially excluded communities, 
trust in the police may be almost non-existent. Another 
agency that we work with in the Jane-Finch community 
called Caring Village did a survey in 2005 in which 78% 
of youth surveyed in the Jane-Finch community said that 
they have never called the police when they were in 
trouble, and 51% stated that they knew someone who had 
been mistreated by the police. Large segments of these 
communities view the police with suspicion, antagonism, 
hostility and fear. The reform of the police complaints 
system is a great opportunity to restore a necessary level 
of trust in the police. However, this opportunity is in-
extricably linked to a larger risk. If the proposed system 
does not serve the public, the result, we fear, will be an 
increase in the level of mistrust in the police and in state 
power more generally. 

Independence from the police: We are concerned that 
the public will perceive the proposed system in Bill 103 
as a process that does not serve the public any better than 
the current ineffective police complaints process. The 
public will not have confidence in a police complaints 
system that is not fully independent from the police. 
Without independence, we must assume trust, not build 
it. To allow any complaints to be investigated or adjudi-
cated by police officers or chiefs of police will under-
mine the integrity of the police complaints system. Even 
if the current system is not actually biased against the 
complainant in all cases, the perception of bias renders 

the system useless in the eyes of those people who need it 
the most. 

Both the police and the public will be well served by a 
complaint system in which complaints are investigated 
by an impartial third party. The public can be confident 
that complaints have been thoroughly investigated. Con-
versely, the police can defend themselves against frivol-
ous complaints by standing behind the investigation of 
the impartial party that has vindicated them without any 
question as to the neutrality of that body. Both the public 
and the police would be well-served by a system in 
which the determination of whether an officer is engaged 
in misconduct is made by an impartial third party. This 
third party must not have participated in the investigation 
process. Further, we submit that where there is a finding 
of misconduct, the penalty that the officer receives could 
be determined by a chief of police in accordance with a 
specific range of penalties for each characterization of 
misconduct. 

There are many benefits to a system like this. First, the 
public can have confidence that the determination of 
whether or not misconduct occurred was determined by 
an impartial and objective third party. Second, the public 
can have confidence that, where an officer is found to 
have committed misconduct, the officer received a 
penalty that was proportionate to the type of misconduct 
that he or she engaged in. It is imperative that the public 
does not view the penalties that are imposed by the chief 
of police to be arbitrary or unjust. The decision-making 
for the choice of penalty must be, and must be seen to be, 
transparent. 

Now I’ll turn to informal resolution. First, the informal 
resolution mechanisms in Bill 103 could be enhanced by 
establishing safeguards to ensure that power imbalances 
between the complainant and chief of police are minim-
ized. We submit that the most effective way to do this 
would be to require an impartial mediator to facilitate 
informal resolution discussions. 

Second, the provisions of Bill 103 do not provide for 
an outcome where no resolution is reached. This is a gap 
that needs to be filled. Where no resolution is reached, 
the chief of police may impose a penalty upon the officer. 
If the officer refuses to accept that penalty, the officer has 
recourse to a hearing. However, we submit that where no 
resolution is reached, the complainant should also have 
the option of proceeding to a hearing. The public will 
have more confidence in a system in which the outcome 
of the complaint is formally determined in a hearing than 
a system in which the complaint is simply disposed of in 
a clandestine manner without the consent of the com-
plainant. 

Finally, I’ll speak about third-party complaints. The 
Attorney General has indicated that third-party com-
plaints “would be allowed if they met certain legislative 
criteria. However, third-party complaints would only be 
considered if they met those criteria.” Bill 103 is cur-
rently structured so that the director has the discretion to 
refuse complaints from all public interest organizations. 

At CLASP, we agree with Justice LeSage that any 
party should be permitted to make a police complaint. As 



JP-1062 STANDING COMMITTEE ON JUSTICE POLICY 31 JANUARY 2007 

mentioned at the outset, we submit that the ultimate goal 
of the police complaint process is to improve the quality 
of policing in Ontario. Complaints made by public inter-
est organizations initiate constructive dialogue between 
police and community organizations and are often an 
effective way to bridge the gap between police and the 
communities that they serve. 

Further, at CLASP we work with a number of vul-
nerable groups, the members of which have good reasons 
to abstain from attaching their names to a police 
complaint, especially given their own experiences with 
police. For instance, youth in the Jane-Finch community 
have good reason to be concerned that if they make a 
complaint, they may be the victims of police retaliation. 
The community has seen far too many incidents of this 
nature—which have gone unaddressed—to believe that 
there is not a risk of retaliation. 

Likewise, a person who is homeless or living in Can-
ada without status has good reason to be concerned about 
the retaliatory consequences of making a complaint. 
Public interest organizations can be an effective form of 
representation for any person who has experienced 
mistreatment at the hands of the police but has reason to 
abstain from making a complaint. The organization 
shields the complainant while allowing the complaint to 
go forward. 

Third-party complaints can also be an effective way to 
initiate constructive dialogue for a larger group that may 
not be collectively mobilized. For example, there are 
many people in the Jane-Finch community who experi-
ence police mistreatment on a regular basis, including 
arbitrary questioning, arbitrary searches and other forms 
of harassment. When Caring Village asked youth what 
the role of the police was in their community, 21% of 
those youth answered that the role of police was “to 
harass and bother youth,” while only 35% answered that 
the role of the police was “to serve and protect.” 

Despite the fact that these forms of harassment con-
stitute police misconduct, arbitrary stops and arbitrary 
searches of young black males will rarely, if ever, result 
in a citizen initiating a police complaint. We often advise 
against making a complaint in this circumstance because 
the threat of retaliation may be too great and the current 
system limits the prospect for any sort of satisfactory 
resolution. However, an issue like racial profiling of 
black youth in the Jane-Finch community is a pandemic 
issue that must be addressed. A public interest organ-
ization is in a perfect position to compile evidence and 
make a complaint on behalf of many members of this 
community, initiating a necessary dialogue. We submit 
that removing the director’s discretion to refuse third-
party complaints would enhance the police complaints 
system. Further, we submit that the standard should be 
the same for anyone. If the complaint is frivolous, it will 
not be allowed in any case. But if there appears to be a 
basis for the claim, it must be investigated. 

Finally, to conclude, we cannot afford to ignore the 
fact that there is a glaring absence of trust between police 
and citizens in many areas of Toronto, especially socially 

excluded areas like the Jane-Finch community. We 
submit that improving the police complaints system can 
be a positive first step in restoring a necessary level of 
trust in the police and improving police-community rela-
tions. However, it will only be a positive first step if the 
police complaints system is actually improved for the 
benefit of the people who need it. If this is not achieved, 
we submit that there is a very real risk that the result will 
be an increase in the level of mistrust in the police and 
state power more generally. In our opinion, Bill 103 in its 
current form is more likely to do the latter. While it is a 
step in the right direction, Bill 103 is not a sufficient 
departure from the current system. 

We would like to say thank you for having us here 
today, and we are happy to field any questions that you 
may have. 

The Chair: We have just about 12 minutes, so four 
minutes per party. We’ll start with the NDP. Mr. 
Kormos. 
1030 

Mr. Kormos: Thank you kindly, sir. I appreciate your 
participation. I’m a fan of this program; I’m also a fan of 
Osgoode law school. The fact that I graduated from there 
should not discourage you in any way at all. I’m sure 
you’ll have a far more successful career than I have 
managed here at Queen’s Park. You may or may not 
know that the Ombudsman—you heard me reference this 
a few minutes ago—talked as early as May of last year in 
a speech to the Toronto Police Services Board about 
section 97 of this bill, which specifically states that the 
Ombudsman will not have oversight of this yet again new 
body. 

You heard me reference Ms. Aucoin in St. Catharines, 
a news item today, and many of us are familiar with Ms. 
Aucoin because her matter has been raised in the Leg-
islature by myself, by Mr. Jackson, who was with the 
Conservative caucus, and I know Mr. Bradley has advo-
cated for her. He is a Liberal member, her representative. 
In this particular instance, the Ombudsman persuaded the 
government to fund her out-of-province treatment, but 
also stated that the process for applying—because there 
is a process, it’s institutionalized; again, many of us are 
familiar with it because we’ve tried to help constituents 
manoeuvre their way through it. But the process is 
difficult, it’s filled with roadblocks and it doesn’t really 
serve the interests of those people making the appli-
cations. 

The Ombudsman says that it’s wrong to exclude his 
oversight of a police complaints process—not that the 
Ombudsman wants to deal with complaints about police, 
but he wants to be able to be there to point out problems 
that may occur. You’ve talked about problems that peo-
ple have in the community you serve, making complaints 
that are at the lowest, most grassroots ground level, right? 

Mr. Carson: Absolutely. 
Mr. Kormos: Never mind the problems that could be 

encountered in the institutional bureaucratic process, 
which could become perhaps even more profound and 
complex. What do you think about whether or not the 
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Ombudsman should be able to oversee this process, like 
he does so many others? 

Mr. Carson: Well, I watched the Ombudsman speak 
yesterday morning and I thought that it was a very com-
pelling presentation. I agree 100% that the Ombudsman 
should oversee this organization and I don’t see any good 
reason why he would not. I agree. 

Mr. Kormos: Well, I suppose I could be accused of 
thanking you just because you agree with my proposition, 
but I appreciate— 

Interjection. 
Mr. Kormos: You and your program have prepared 

an excellent submission and made a number of points. I 
obviously am focusing very much on section 97. I 
appreciate your contribution to this process and wish you 
well. 

Mr. Carson: Thank you. 
The Chair: We’ll move on now to the Liberal Party 

and Mr. Crozier. 
Mr. Bruce Crozier (Essex): Good morning. Wel-

come to the committee and thank you for your pres-
entation. As you have heard at the beginning of today, 
and certainly Mr. Kormos is making the point with 
regard to the Ombudsman not having any oversight role 
in this particular act—and I respect the fact that you feel 
that he should have as well—in fact, as his own material 
says, if you translate the French, he is Ontario’s guard 
dog. So one would ask why he may not have that role. 

Well, in the terms of reference that Mr. Justice LeSage 
dealt with, which I think were pretty broad, quite 
frankly—the Ombudsman thought they were restrictive, 
but I think, having read them, they were very broad. I 
think the history, the precedent was taken into consider-
ation, and that being that perhaps there wasn’t any need 
to point out that the Ombudsman should play part of that 
role or should not because the Ombudsman has never had 
that authority in police complaints. So really, we’re just 
carrying on from where it was before. 

It’s also interesting to note that the Ombudsman 
appeared as a participant to Mr. Justice LeSage. Not only 
did he speak with him subsequent to that and subsequent 
to his speaking out last May to other bodies, but I would 
wonder—and I can only wonder because our time was 
limited yesterday and I didn’t have the opportunity to ask 
if in fact Mr. Marin spoke about the Ombudsman role or 
the need for the Ombudsman role when he was a partici-
pant. Granted, when he was a participant, he was then the 
Ombudsman for National Defence and the Canadian 
Forces, so he wasn’t before Justice LeSage in the role 
that he has now as the Ontario Ombudsman. 

My point is, notwithstanding how someone might feel, 
the Ombudsman never has had that role, and I believe 
we’re just continuing with that precedent that was set 
before. 

Mr. Carson: In our experience with the system, the 
police complaints system is extremely flawed and has 
been for some time. To my way of thinking, the fact that 
the Ombudsman has never been involved in a system that 
is ineffective does not produce a compelling argument as 

to why the Ombudsman should not be involved in a sys-
tem that we want to be effective. With respect, we’re 
searching for ways to enhance this system. I would cer-
tainly submit that the system would be enhanced if the 
Ombudsman were involved, and perhaps that is one of 
the shortcomings of the traditional police complaints 
system. 

Mr. Kormos: Mr. Zimmer, I’d take him into my firm; 
wouldn’t you? 

The Chair: You’ve got about a minute left. 
Mr. Zimmer: On behalf of the AG’s office, I just 

want to recognize the great work that CLASP has done as 
a training ground for young lawyers with a real social 
conscience. Often the folks who work at CLASP move 
on into positions in the crown’s office or the AG’s office 
or the defence bar, and they bring that great experience 
and sensitivity. So, do carry back to your colleagues at 
CLASP a note of thanks from this committee and the 
AG’s office. 

Mr. Carson: Thank you very much. 
The Chair: We’ll move on to the Progressive Conser-

vatives. Mr. Dunlop. 
Mr. Dunlop: Welcome this morning. It was a great 

presentation. I went right to the back of your presentation 
and the actual recommendations you’ve included in here. 
This is really what you’re after in the end on Bill 103, 
these types of things to be included. There are 13 recom-
mendations. I notice that the Ombudsman was not one of 
them at this point. 

Mr. Carson: No, it’s not one of them at this point. It’s 
not something that we focused on. We have tried to focus 
specifically on the impact that this bill would have on the 
clients we work with and the community we work with. 
So from that point of view, the Ombudsman aspect of it 
was not something we focused on. 

Mr. Dunlop: Okay. But everything else—you haven’t 
actually included the sections, but what you are saying is 
that at some point in the legislation or in the clause-by-
clause, these 13 recommendations that you’ve presented 
today are the changes you’d like to see to the bill. 

Mr. Carson: Certainly. They are the ways that we 
think this legislation would be enhanced. 

Mr. Dunlop: Okay. That’s all I have. 
The Chair: Again, thank you for your presentation 

today. 
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AFRICAN CANADIAN LEGAL CLINIC 
The Chair: We’ll move on to our next deputation, the 

African Canadian Legal Clinic, Royland Moriah and 
Marie Chen. 

Mr. Royland Moriah: Good morning, members of 
the committee. 

The Chair: Good morning. You have 20 minutes to 
make your presentation. Any time that’s left over, if you 
finish before 20 minutes, will be shared equally amongst 
the three parties in asking you any questions. 
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Mr. Moriah: Thank you. Good morning, committee 
members. Thank you for the opportunity to present 
before you today. My name is Royland Moriah. I’m the 
policy lawyer at the African Canadian Legal Clinic. With 
me today is our staff lawyer Marie Chen, who will be 
assisting me with my presentation, particularly with 
respect to any questions that might be asked at the con-
clusion of my presentation. 

Just to let you know, the ACLC is a specialty clinic 
that’s part of the Legal Aid Ontario system that provides 
legal work that’s aimed at addressing systemic racism 
and discrimination in the province of Ontario. We engage 
in test-case litigation and we’ve represented litigants at 
tribunals and courts at all levels, up to and including the 
Supreme Court of Canada. We also monitor legislation, 
which is why we’re here today, and engage in advocacy 
and legal education aimed at eliminating racism and in 
particular anti-black racism. 

Needless to say, I think it’s without any sort of contro-
versy that I can say that there is racism in Canadian 
society today. As part of the criminal justice system and 
some of the other institutions that experience this phe-
nomenon, the police services aren’t immune. Whether 
it’s with regard to inappropriate use of police discretion, 
racial profiling or police use of force, there have been 
various reports, court decisions, etc., that have acknowl-
edged the impact of racism on policing. Because of this 
reality, for racialized communities such as African Can-
adians, the creation of an open, accessible and effective 
police complaints system is critical. This is very much 
rooted in the history, obviously, of the formation of the 
police complaints system. Certainly because of some of 
the issues that our community has had to face in the past, 
we have always advocated for a very independent, very 
accessible and very open system, and we’ll continue to 
do so. 

In principle, we do support the amendments that are 
proposed in Bill 103. We are pleased that Bill 103 moves 
towards a more independent police complaints system by 
the creation of an independent oversight body to admin-
ister the system. Particularly, it’s very important that Bill 
103 contemplates a system where the independent police 
review director has the discretion to determine how 
complaints will be investigated. So they will receive 
complaints and, of course, have the discretion, particu-
larly in the case of complaints against individual officers, 
which are a lot of the complaints that we deal with with 
our clients, to determine how those are dealt with. How-
ever, one of our major concerns is that Bill 103 doesn’t 
provide any guidelines regarding how that discretion will 
be exercised. There’s no clear direction given as to when 
the IPRD will be required to retain complaints for 
investigation, and there’s a very real possibility that with-
out such guidelines we effectively could return to the 
status quo. This really comes back to the purpose of the 
changes that we’re trying to make. What Justice LeSage 
made quite clear was that there is a lack of confidence in 
the police complaints system, and a lot of that has to do 
with the police involvement and police control of that 

system. What we are seeing with the amendments pro-
posed by Bill 103 is a move away from that; however, 
we’re concerned that although the structure has been put 
in place, without ensuring that there are specific guide-
lines, we might go back to what we have currently, which 
is a system whereby the police will continue to investi-
gate the majority of complaints against themselves. 

In our experience, the need to eliminate or reduce 
substantially police involvement in police complaints is 
critical. In our experience, that involvement has con-
tributed to a lack of confidence in the system, and a lot of 
that has to do with several things. One of the things that 
we see in the media and in our experience has been the 
overall lack of willingness on the part of the police estab-
lishment to actually acknowledge the impact of racism 
and racial profiling and other racially biased policing 
issues on the police services. Certainly, this has an im-
pact on how communities see the police as taking those 
concerns seriously. Secondly, being a clinic that is in-
volved on a day-to-day basis with police complaints and 
in assisting and representing clients who file police com-
plaints, we know that there are very specific barriers 
within the complaints system itself that contribute to 
problems. 

Our clients have to overcome the concerns of: 
—having to file a complaint at a police station; 
—the possibility of reprisal; 
—living in the same neighbourhood where the officer 

who is the subject of the complaint might be working; 
—having the complaint investigated, perhaps, by 

somebody who works within that same police division; 
—having an investigating officer who is not willing to 

understand and accept that there might be issues of 
racism that need to be dealt with. 

All of these things create a barrier, and these were the 
issues that Justice LeSage was trying to deal with when 
making some of the recommendations with respect to 
changes to the police complaints system. 

What we are really trying to say is that if we are going 
to make the changes that we need to make, we have to 
make sure that the system that we put in place will have 
the guidelines, specifically for the independent police 
review director, to ensure that such issues like racism, 
racial profiling—issues that are fraught; issues that, 
regardless of the good faith of the particular officer, are 
best dealt with by an independent body—will be taken by 
the independent police review director, to be investigated 
by them only. For our community, that’s an important 
goal of this process; without that, there will certainly be a 
concern that we have created something that could be 
useful but lacks the direction to actually deal with these 
issues effectively. 

To that end, we do recommend, particularly, first off, 
in terms of the investigation of complaints, that the 
independent police review director should be required to 
investigate all complaints involving claims of racism, 
discrimination, racial bias or racial profiling or related 
allegations and cases that are involving injury not under 
the jurisdiction of the SIU. 
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Second, and related to the issue of the investigation of 
complaints, is the need to adequately fund the police 
complaints system. This was something that was touched 
on by Justice LeSage in his report, and it continues to be 
something that’s particularly important when looking at 
the system that we’re trying to put in place. For the IPRD 
to be effective, we do need to have adequate resources so 
that it can fulfill its mandate of independent civilian 
oversight. Any government commitment to ensuring 
effective independent oversight must necessarily include 
resources to ensure its proper functioning. Without 
sufficient funds, it’s clear that it would be a mere shell; it 
won’t be able to complete the job that it’s supposed to do 
or fulfill its capacity in providing civilian oversight and 
ensuring fair and transparent police complaints. Conse-
quently, we are reiterating recommendation 27 from 
Justice LeSage’s report that funding “be sufficient to 
ensure that the new independent body is able to operate 
in a manner that ensures public confidence in the police 
complaints system.” 

Related to the issue with respect to the investigation is 
section 57 of Bill 103, which deals with the review of 
systemic issues. We would propose a change to that par-
ticular section—and if you want to turn to it right now, 
I’ll allow you to have the opportunity to do so. In par-
ticular, we’re looking at section 57, because, again, what 
we’re looking at is trying to move to a system that 
addresses some of the systemic issues that a lot of com-
munities that use the police complaints system have to 
deal with. I would suggest the following wording: “In 
addition to his or her other functions under this act, the 
independent police review director shall”—as opposed to 
“may”—“examine and review issues of a systemic nature 
that are the subject of or give rise to complaints by 
members of the public under this part and may make 
recommendations to the Solicitor General, the Attorney 
General, chiefs of police, boards and any other person or 
body.” 

Secondly, related to the issue of funding—because 
there isn’t any specific clause, obviously, dealing with 
funding within the bill itself—we would recommend that 
a review clause or a sunset clause be put in place so that 
the implementation of the act be reviewed after two 
years, including any issues involving funding, and that 
those issues be addressed by the Legislature. 

I’d like to thank you for the opportunity to provide 
submissions today. If you do have any questions, I am 
willing to take those now and hopefully provide you with 
some assistance. 
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The Chair: Did Ms. Chen want to add anything? 
Ms. Marie Chen: No. 
The Chair: Okay. Thank you for your presentation. 

That leaves us about 10 minutes—just over three minutes 
per party. We’ll start with the Liberal Party. 

Mr. Zimmer: I was taken by your last comment 
where you recommended that the “may” be switched 
over to “shall,” so they can in effect make policy recom-

mendations on how to combat systemic racism and so on. 
Is that correct? 

Mr. Moriah: Yes. 
Mr. Zimmer: The way the system is set up now under 

this bill is that the complaints process is an adjudicative 
process. So if somebody has a complaint and a decision 
has to be made on the facts giving rise to that com-
plaint—uphold the complaint, dismiss the complaint or 
whatever—do you think there’s a conflict if you have the 
same body, the complaints mechanism, doing an adjudi-
cative function, deciding on the facts—this happened, 
this didn’t happen and so on—and mixing that up with a 
broader policy rule? 

Mr. Moriah: I’m not quite sure if I follow you in 
terms of the issue of the conflict. In terms of the sug-
gestion that “may” be changed to “shall,” that really is 
looking to the overall issue of making sure that systemic 
concerns are dealt with by the independent police review 
director. I think at this point in time that they are the only 
body that has the ability to do so. 

Mr. Zimmer: Right. But my point is, once you turn 
the commission into making broader policy recom-
mendations, how are you going to separate that out from 
the commission’s adjudicative function, to be deciding 
the facts of a particular complaint? Would you rather see 
the commission as an adjudicated body or a policy body, 
or are you advocating a mix of both? 

Mr. Moriah: I don’t think that it has to be one or the 
other. I think that there can be a mix of both. Certainly, 
there would have to be procedures put in place to address 
any of those concerns. I don’t think it’s something that 
hasn’t been done before, so I think that it is a possibility. 
And I think that by being the body that actually receives 
some of those complaints, they do have the opportunity 
to review them and determine where there are certain 
policy and systemic issues that seem to be arising. 

Mr. Zimmer: So just to take the analogy of the court 
system, let’s take a criminal court judge. The judge is 
charged with the responsibility of making decisions on 
facts. If somebody is accused of doing something, he or 
she has got to sort out the facts. Now, I think that would 
put the judge in a difficult position if the judge was 
sorting out facts and then also making policy recom-
mendations, or making laws, in effect. 

Mr. Moriah: I think that it’s a fundamentally differ-
ent—to me, I believe that’s sort of apples to oranges. I 
don’t know if that’s necessarily the parallel that we’re 
looking at in this particular circumstance. First off, find-
ings of misconduct are what they are looking at for those 
situations when we’re talking about the police complaints 
system. What we are trying to do is make sure that issues 
that are systemic in nature are dealt with by the IPRD 
because they are independent and because they are best 
able to address them properly. 

The concern is that if we stick with the “may” that’s in 
the legislation, there might not be any decisions with 
respect to policies that might be important for commun-
ities to have addressed. 

Mr. Zimmer: Thank you. 
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The Chair: We’ll move on to the Progressive Conser-
vatives. Mr. Dunlop. 

Mr. Dunlop: Thank you very much and welcome to 
Queen’s Park this morning. In listening to your pres-
entation, I take it there’s no written presentation you have 
for us. 

Mr. Moriah: I actually did speak with Ms. Stokes 
prior to our presentation. We had some problems with 
our systems yesterday. We will provide a written pres-
entation— 

Mr. Dunlop: We really appreciate that. You’re the 
sixteenth of 26 presentations, and I’m hearing so far a lot 
of potential recommendations that are coming forward 
here for amendments to the bill. I’m not sure what the 
government’s intentions are with a number of these 
recommendations. 

I’d ask you a couple of quick questions. One, if there 
were no amendments made to this bill, would you still 
support this piece of legislation? 

Mr. Moriah: That’s an interesting question. 
Mr. Zimmer: I’m curious, I guess, because there are a 

number of recommendations— 
Mr. Moriah: As I said before, I think in principle we 

do support the bill. But certainly there are changes that 
could be made—very minor changes—that could make a 
world of difference in terms of how effectively the police 
complaints system could operate moving forward. 

Ms. Chen: I think that the bill presents a huge 
potential for independence, and it’s a promise. But I think 
the amendments we have suggested today will actually 
fulfill that promise—the promise of accountability, the 
promise of independence, and the promise of remedies 
for our clients. 

Mr. Dunlop: And I understand that. I’m just curious 
because they are coming in quite a wide variety of po-
tential amendments, the recommendations people are 
making. But I’m curious about your organization. Can 
you give the committee any feedback on the types of 
complaints you are getting? Can you share that with the 
committee, the kinds of numbers, etc., that type of thing? 

Ms. Chen: As my colleague has said, we are a test-
case clinic. Part of our work includes assisting people 
with police complaints, and we do that on a regular basis. 
Practically every day we get calls from people who have 
suffered at the hands of the police, and they are wide-
ranging issues, some of them extremely serious involving 
police abuse, and some of them you would term minor, 
involving verbal harassment or just simply stopping on 
the street. We assist clients on a wide range. That’s why 
it’s linked to one of our recommendations: that if an 
allegation or complaint involves injury, the independent 
director should be keeping those complaints, because 
we’ve found that with those types of complaints, in-
cluding complaints involving racial discrimination, the 
process has not worked at all. In fact, it has revictimized 
our clients. It’s not just an uphill battle; it has been 
fraught with resistance, and our clients are just com-
pletely revictimized by the whole system. So we do get a 
range. 

We find as well that the SIU mandate is way too 
narrow for many of our complaints because their man-
date stops at serious injury. We find that with a lot of 
complaints that involve police use of force, they don’t 
come up to that standard of serious injury. We find that 
the police end up investigating those complaints, and that 
process has been completely problematic. 

Mr. Dunlop: Thank you very much for your pres-
entation. 

The Chair: We’ll move on to the NDP. 
Mr. Kormos: Thank you very much for your partici-

pation. I don’t have a problem understanding your pro-
posal around section 57. The retention of “may” means 
that the government will effectively control the amount 
of investigation of systemic issues that’s performed by 
funding, or underfunding. Since the director is not re-
quired to investigate, lack of funding does not create a 
crisis in terms of the application of section 57. That’s the 
problem, Mr. Zimmer. That’s the problem. Come on; is 
Bill 107 that distant in your memory that you can’t con-
template an investigative function and an adjudicative 
function, along with addressing systemic issues and 
investigating them? 

Alan Borovoy was here yesterday. He was concerned 
about the dichotomy of policy issues being kept within 
the bailiwick of the director while the director can farm 
out conduct issues to local chiefs of police. His proposal 
was that there should be not just a review of the com-
plaint, which means looking at it and taking it verbatim, 
but an initial investigation to determine whether or not 
something that might be, in the first instance, conduct is 
in fact a policy issue. Why in hell would you refer a 
policy issue, for good reason, down to the chief of 
police? It’s probably the chief of police who set the 
policy. For instance, if it’s the policy of a given police 
service to use a technique or tactic with citizenry, the 
victim of that technique or tactic would perceive it and 
report it as the conduct of that police officer, yet in fact it 
may be a policy issue: The cop is following orders. He’s 
doing what’s consistent with the policy of that police 
force. 
1100 

I go through this because we’re dealing with these, 
and I’m trying very hard—I’m worried that the govern-
ment’s not going to accept any of the proposals put for-
ward by people like Alan Borovoy, even the points where 
Alan Borovoy and Bruce Miller of the police association 
agree with each other—they do, in terms of wanting non-
police adjudication. 

Do you see that as a significant issue, especially in 
view of your comments around section 57? Do you 
believe the director should be required to investigate the 
initial complaint to make a determination as to whether 
it’s in fact a policy as compared to mere conduct, to 
avoid that horrible dilemma of sending policy issues 
disguised as conduct issues down to a chief of police to 
adjudicate? 

Mr. Moriah: It’s very important, and it does go back 
to what we’re talking about, even in terms of systemic 
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issues. One of the concerns is, as you said, that Bill 107 
isn’t that far distant in our memory. 

Mr. Kormos: I remember it well. 
Mr. Moriah: There’s that sometimes unfortunate idea 

that there’s a disconnect between individual and systemic 
issues and, because of that, we can separate them some-
how and deal with them appropriately in two different 
manners. We know from the experiences we have with 
our clients that one of the concerns is that the conduct 
issues they face often derive from systemic issues within 
the police services. Unless there is a way in which the 
director, whether through policy initiatives or through the 
investigation they receive in the initial investigation of 
complaints, can address whether or not a systemic issue 
is at play, the concern is that these issues are going to go 
back as conduct issues to that particular police service, 
and they might not be addressed or investigated as prop-
erly as they could be had it been done by an independent 
body. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation, and 
thank you for your time today. 

COMMUNITY EDUCATION 
AND ACCESS TO POLICE COMPLAINTS 

DEMONSTRATION PROJECT 
The Chair: We move on then to our next deputation, 

which is the Community Education and Access to Police 
Complaints Demonstration Project, CEAPC; Susanne 
Burkhardt, director of development and community 
engagement, acting CEAPC project coordinator. 

Ms. Susanne Burkhardt: Hello. 
The Chair: Good morning. 
Ms. Burkhardt: Good morning. My name is Susanne 

Burkhardt. I am the director of development and com-
munity engagement at Scadding Court Community 
Centre, and I have been for the past four or five months 
the acting coordinator of the Community Education and 
Access to Police Complaints Demonstration Project, 
which is a mouthful. We refer to it as the CEAPC project, 
so I’ll be referring to it that way from now on. 

Scadding Court is a multi-service community centre 
that serves residents in the west downtown area of 
Dundas and Bathurst. We have a long history of serving a 
very diverse community, culturally, economically and 
otherwise. We were involved in the initial formation of 
the CEAPC project, which is a two-year demonstration 
project that’s focused on making the police complaints 
system more accessible and available to the specific 
needs of community members, particularly those who are 
marginalized due to their culture, race, language, socio-
economic status and other factors. 

The CEAPC project is based out of a pretty unique 
partnership of 39 diverse organizations from across To-
ronto. The partnership includes legal clinics, community 
centres, grassroots groups, advocacy groups and a lot 
more. It also includes the active participation and support 
by the Toronto Police Service as a project partner, which 
has been really instrumental in its success. We’ve worked 

quite closely with their professional standards depart-
ment. 

I’d like to provide a brief overview of who we are and 
what we do, after which I’ll outline our partnership’s 
analysis of Bill 103 and the recommendations that we are 
putting forward. The second part, where I speak about the 
recommendations, is based on our partnership’s analysis, 
which I’ve given to you in its long version and as a 
summary as well. Because we have 39 partners, which 
includes a number of legal clinics, it’s a pretty detailed 
document with a lot of recommendations. 

In 2002, events in our community led to the develop-
ment of a new area of programming which related to 
addressing issues of race relations. There was the 
formation of a local task team on race relations which, 
over time, identified a number of themes that were in 
need of attention. These included the relationship be-
tween the community, particularly youth and police, as 
well as the reluctance of community members to file 
complaints and generally very low levels of awareness 
about how to even go about filing a complaint. We 
explored this a little bit further throughout the city and 
held 17 focus groups which confirmed that the same 
issues were being experienced in a lot of other mar-
ginalized communities around the city. Therefore, we 
developed a project and in May 2005 launched it with 
over 30 partner agencies. 

Our approach to facilitating access to the police 
complaints system is to provide community-based intake 
and support and to proactively educate and raise aware-
ness and knowledge about the police complaint system. 
At the same time, we recognize that many complaints are 
symptomatic of a much broader issue of police commun-
ity relations. For this reason, an underlying theme in 
everything that we do is to promote understanding and 
more positive relations between communities and police. 

We’ve worked in six high-needs Toronto neigh-
bourhoods, and in doing that, we basically carry out four 
primary streams of activity. We offer a community-based 
intake of complaints and support for pursuing those 
complaints. We do a lot of outreach awareness-raising. 
We do a lot of community education, and we hold 
divisional orientations which bring together police with 
community members. 

In terms of our community-based intake, we’ve train-
ed over 75 community workers across the city on police 
complaints, anti-racism, conflict resolution and a number 
of other topics. That training was provided by university 
professors, grassroots community groups and members of 
the Toronto Police Service, so it was a very solid, 
intensive training process. Many of those who’ve been 
trained are actively providing support to people who 
want to file complaints around the city and support in 
terms of providing information, letting people know what 
to expect, providing translation services, cultural inter-
pretation—that kind of thing. 

Our first evaluation, which covered the first six 
months of the project, found that within the six divisions 
served by CEAPC, we took in 9.7% of all complaints 
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filed, which was a statistically significant number. In our 
second evaluation, we found that that number had risen 
by 187%, so as awareness about the project grew, people 
were really accessing it a lot more. 

We also created a number of resource materials. I’ve 
given you the brochures and a bookmark, I believe. All 
of those brochures were translated into 16 different lan-
guages, based on the needs of our partners, and have 
been disseminated very broadly around the city. We also 
held two TTC ad campaigns which really were successful 
in raising awareness. As someone who took this over 
four or five months ago, I’m astounded by the number of 
phone calls I get from people just wanting information, 
wanting to know about the process and how to proceed, 
and sometimes wanting help, but not always. 

We’ve done 29 workshops to over 400 community 
members on a wide range of topics. These are really 
successful, and we’re increasingly getting requests from 
other communities to do workshops. As I mentioned, we 
also have held a number of divisional orientations, which 
bring together communities and police for a day-long 
session and are preceded by a number of planning meet-
ings as well. What these do is build relationships. They 
create understandings. They let people identify what 
local issues are and how they might work on them to-
gether. 

An interesting development is that we’ve been ap-
proached by a couple of other communities around using 
our model. We’re actively working with a group in 
Hamilton which includes the Hamilton police to adapt 
our materials for their setting, and have been approached 
by a group in Ottawa that’s interested as well. 

We believe that our project clearly demonstrates that 
increasing access to the complaints system and using this 
process to create opportunities for dialogue and building 
relationships between police and communities is both 
viable and productive and results in positive outcomes. 
Community-based education and intake seems to really 
work. People are comfortable in community settings, 
agencies can provide information and services in a way 
that meets people’s needs, and we also have a capacity 
for referring people to other sources of information and 
services that does not exist at all in the current system. 

We have, of course, been following the development 
of Bill 103 fairly closely and very much welcome the 
review of the legislation, but we do feel strongly that the 
proposed changes are insufficient and don’t provide a lot 
of reforms that would result in a more legitimate, trans-
parent and accountable procedure. We would really like 
to see a model that not only allows for but encourages 
and actually welcomes the engagement of a lot of in-
dividuals and communities who currently feel discour-
aged from coming forward. 
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We have identified a number of broad themes around 
which there is concern, which includes a strong emphasis 
on accessibility. We also have 50 recommendations that 
are pretty specific and pretty concrete. I’m not going to 
go through them all, but I would strongly urge you to 

consider them as you move forward. As I said, we do 
have 39 partners, and that’s part of why this document is 
pretty detailed, because we were trying to accommodate 
all of our partners. 

One of our big concerns is the issue of civilian over-
sight, and I believe I’ve heard it mentioned before. We 
really notice that there is a widespread perception among 
those who have had negative interactions with the police 
that the current system isn’t effective as an instrument of 
accountability. We don’t believe that Bill 103 does any-
thing about this distrust of the system. In response to 
calls for civilian oversight, it has established the inde-
pendent police review director, which is a step forward, 
but our partners believe that the legitimacy of this office 
is compromised by the fact that control over the com-
plaints process has shifted from the hands of the police 
into the hands of the Attorney General and that the over-
sight mechanism is therefore independent in name only. 

We also have a sense that power is now concentrated 
in a few people or in a few positions and really believe 
that true accountability will only result if the IPRD is 
accountable to fully independent civilian boards across 
the province, which should be representative of the 
diverse makeup of the province. 

Another broad area of concern is that the language 
that’s used and the terminology used in the bill is often 
very vague and creates very little certainty as to how the 
process is actually going to work. There is a concern that 
this leaves a lot of power within the hands of policy-
makers and that the political climate and interest groups 
will have quite a bit of ability to influence how the actual 
bill is implemented. Ultimately, we worry that this 
vagueness will result in inconsistently applied practices 
that frustrate the ability of people to actually access the 
system, particularly the communities that we work with, 
which face a number of barriers. 

A final area of concern relates to the breadth of the 
mandate of the IPRD and the fact that its powers are 
highly discretionary. This basically impacts on the whole 
legitimacy of the complaints regime, as there is not a 
sense that the IPRD can necessarily administer it in a 
consistent manner. 

I’m now going to speak to a couple of specific 
concerns that we’ve had around the issue of access. If I 
could get a heads-up when I have five minutes left, that 
would be great. 

The Chair: Just to let you know, you started at just 
after 11 o’clock. According to my clock it’s about 11:12 
right now, so you can speak for at least nine more 
minutes. 

Ms. Burkhardt: Thank you. 
One area of concern is around outreach and education 

to diverse communities. We really believe that Ontario’s 
diversity is a reality that has to be explicitly addressed by 
a public mechanism that aims to provide an equitable and 
just complaints system. 

We agree with Justice LeSage, who said, “Outreach 
and public education are critical to fostering understand-
ing and public confidence, and the lack of efforts in this 
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area has no doubt been partly responsible for the current 
problems.” Our partner organizations know from first-
hand experience that barriers caused by a lack of out-
reach and public education are magnified for a lot of 
people, such as those who do not speak English as a first 
language, face literacy challenges, have a disability, are 
socially isolated, or live in underserviced communities. 

We also feel that true accessibility demands that com-
plainants have a wide variety of intake mechanisms. 
There are examples of flexibility with respect to intake 
mechanisms in other jurisdictions—I think some are out-
lined in our analysis—and also in the public complaints 
context of the provincial Ombudsman, where you can do 
an intake by phone, e-mail, Internet, fax or mail, which 
are more options than are currently available under the 
police complaints regime. 

We feel strongly that the bill must take linguistic, 
cultural and other diversity considerations into account in 
terms of providing information and assistance. There are 
some specific recommendations around that. 

We also believe that our project, as the only one of its 
kind in Ontario and in fact in Canada that we are aware 
of, could be considered as a model for public education 
and assistance with complaints. For this reason, we 
would recommend that the bill consider mandating the 
availability of community-based complaints intake to be 
provided by community-based organizations that are 
trained and funded to do so. We’re not saying that’s the 
only way that complaints should be taken in, but we do 
think it’s one way that complaints should be able to be 
submitted. 

There’s concern about geographic barriers. Even in 
Toronto, where the current civilian oversight body is 
located, making a complaint can be intimidating and in-
convenient. Geographic difficulties for people in smaller 
rural or northern communities are even more of an issue. 
As it stands, the bill permits the IPRD, but doesn’t 
require it, to establish regional offices. We strongly 
believe, as did Justice LeSage, that the province should 
be divided into regions and that adviser groups should be 
formed in each region. This would address the issue of 
geography. It would also address the issue of civilian 
oversight. 

A concern raised by a number of our partners is the 
fact that the bill does not appear to address the issue of 
accessibility for aboriginal communities, where problems 
of geography, language and cultural barriers can really 
converge and access is a strong concern. We have a 
number of recommendations around that. 

We are also concerned that the bill doesn’t impose a 
positive obligation on the police to identify themselves, 
which creates the potential for police to act anonymously 
and, in doing so, avoid accountability mechanisms. We 
would like to see a provincial standard for identification. 
We’d also like to go a step further and impose a positive 
duty on police to ensure that information about com-
plaints procedures is accessible at different points of 
contact that police have with civilians, including on the 
street, in squad cars and at police stations. At this point, 
that information is not that easy to get to. 

Another issue that we’d like to raise is the limitation 
period. At this point, it’s set at six months, and we be-
lieve that’s too short. We’ve encountered many situations 
where it just has not allowed for the time that someone 
has needed to recover from either emotional or physio-
logical trauma that they’ve actually sustained, and it has 
kept them from filing complaints. We’d like to see that 
made longer. 

I think I’ll mention one or two more points and then 
conclude so that we can have some questions. 

The informal resolution is another concern that a 
number of our partners raised. They were troubled by the 
poorly conceived emphasis that they believe to be in 
place in Bill 103 around informal resolution. There was a 
concern that mediators have traditionally not been 
neutral. As a result, we would like to recommend that 
only neutral and qualified parties who are not and have 
never been employed as police officers should mediate 
informal resolution and that the results of informal reso-
lution should be recorded, publicly available and audited. 

I think I may end there. I’d like to echo some of the 
comments that the previous speakers made around fund-
ing for the system and point you towards the recom-
mendations that we have around auditing, because there 
were a number of recommendations in that area. 

I’d also like to thank you for your time and attention 
and let you know that our partnership would very much 
welcome the opportunity for more dialogue on this issue. 
I’m happy to answer questions. I do want to state that I’m 
not a lawyer. I very much come from a community-based 
perspective. I’ll do my best to answer any questions you 
might have. I’m also representing a number of different 
agencies, but I will do my best. 

The Chair: Thank you. We have about three and a 
half minutes left, so roughly over a minute per party. 
We’ll start with the PC Party. 

Mr. Dunlop: I just have a quick question. I appreciate 
the amount of information you brought to us this 
morning. This demonstration project: Did this take place 
after Bill 103 was introduced, or has this been going on 
for some time? 
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Ms. Burkhardt: The development of it started in 
about 2003, so it was in process. We got funding in late 
2004, I believe, so we started actually implementing the 
project in 2005. I’m not sure of the timeline of Bill 103. I 
do know that a number of our partners were involved in 
the LeSage consultations and then sort of moved on to 
Bill 103. 

Mr. Dunlop: So you kind of carried on, you sort of 
paralleled your demonstration project with Bill 103 and 
the LeSage report. 

Ms. Burkhardt: Yes. I don’t think it was intentional; 
it just happened to take place that way. 

Mr. Dunlop: I noticed you do have recommendations. 
Ms. Burkhardt: We do, yes. 
Mr. Dunlop: So Mr. Zimmer is going to have a busy 

afternoon here. Thank you very much. 
The Chair: Mr. Kormos for the NDP. 
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Mr. Kormos: Thank you very much. I’m amazed at 
the goodwill being displayed towards this bill when the 
fundamental problem, as perceived by so many, is police 
investigating the police. Yet while this bill creates yet a 
new body, which is not a police body, complaint about 
policies or services shall be referred to the local chief of 
police. Complaint about conduct shall be referred to the 
local chief, to another chief, or may be retained by the 
director, yet we know that funding constraints will deter-
mine how many actual investigations the director is 
going to be able to do. I’m amazed that people who have 
been struggling with the fundamental problem of police 
investigating the police come here and say, “Oh, it’s 
basically a good piece of legislation.” I find it mind-
boggling. If the fundamental problem is police investi-
gating police, the fundamental foundation of this bill is 
for the police to continue investigating the police. How 
come people aren’t concerned about that, and how come 
people are suggesting that somehow, yes, the bill should 
be supported because it’s a good new start? 

Hell’s bells. Do you think this is going to be reviewed 
and amended in the course of the next 10 or 15 years? 
Not bloody likely. 

Ms. Burkhardt: We are very concerned with police 
investigating police and do go through that in our 
analysis. I didn’t— 

Mr. Kormos: So do I vote for the bill and hope that 
somehow in the years to come successive governments 
are going to make it better, or do I say, no, I’m taking a 
stand: This is not an adequate level of reform? 

Ms. Burkhardt: That’s a discussion that actually was 
held in many different ways within our partnership. What 
emerged was a real sense that, “You know what? It has 
come this far. We’re better off to try and put some 
changes into it that would suit our needs than to try and 
oppose it.” There was a real sense that that would be 
futile and that it was better to just go with it and try and 
make it suit the needs. That’s the sense I get from the 
discussions that we held. 

The Chair: Thank you for your answer. Over to the 
Liberal Party. 

Mr. Crozier: With the restraint of the minute that I 
have, I’ll just ask one question. 

Ms. Burkhardt: My apologies. 
Mr. Crozier: No, that’s fine, and we can read your 

report as well. Thanks for bringing it. 
The length of notification period, the six months: If 

you do recommend, what time period do you recom-
mend? 

Ms. Burkhardt: In our recommendations it says up to 
two years. In our specific discussions, there was that 
consensus that 12 to 18 months would be ideal. There 
were some people who really felt strongly about putting 
it to the two years because there was legal precedent, 
basically. The lawyers felt that there was legal precedent 
for the two years. A lot of the community groups felt that 
might even be a little bit too long, and 12 to 18 months 
would be ideal. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation today. 

R.J. POTOMSKI 
The Chair: The next deputant is Mr. Potomski. 
Just a reminder, Mr. Potomski: You’ve probably 

already heard this, but it’s 20 minutes for your pres-
entation. You can use all the time in the 20 minutes for 
your presentation, or you can use part of it and have 
questions asked of yourself. 

Mr. R.J. Potomski: I haven’t sent you anything and I 
haven’t written anything down. I read this bill and I’m 
putting in some background on me so you understand 
why I’m here. I looked at it and I’m seeing what changes 
compared to what the existing system is and what this 
new system is. The only thing I see is that you’ve added 
some new employees onto the government payroll. I’m 
not sure if anything else changes. 

I want to tell you a story, and really, at first sight, I’m 
looking at it and saying, is it worth the money and the 
time to have Bill 103? 

Here’s my background: There have been a number of 
issues I have had. I’m from Windsor, Ontario. I’m not 
affiliated with any agency and I came up here on my own 
with no third party paying for anything. 

Some 20 years ago, I was involved with quite a 
litigious break-up. One summer, after a couple of years, I 
had not seen my kids once they got out of school. My 
access was denied. I had taken my ex-wife to court a 
couple of times—twice on contempt. The judge each 
time kept on saying, “One more time.” Finally, he said, 
on August 14—and I remember that date; I forget even 
what year it was, but I remember August 14—I was to 
see my children at 10 a.m. come hell or high water, or 
she might lose custody or get thrown in jail at that point. 
And I’m only telling you one part of my life story; there 
are a lot of other issues. 

So, going ahead, I’m kind of excited that this 10 
o’clock in the morning is coming along, and at 8 o’clock 
there’s a “knock, knock” on my apartment door. It’s the 
Windsor police. Okay. I opened the door. The police 
officer said he was instructed that there was a warrant for 
my arrest and he had to take me downtown. I’m on the 
east side and he’s going to take me downtown. Okay. I 
knew the officer from other issues that had been brought 
up, that had happened, and he took me downtown. They 
kept me until 11 o’clock in the morning and said they had 
made a mistake. They didn’t offer a ride back; nothing. I 
had to find my own way back, and eventually by noon or 
1 o’clock, when I got there, she was gone. I didn’t see my 
kids. And she had a valid reason: The police arrested me. 

I eventually found out later— 
Mr. Kormos: Potomski’s such a common name; I can 

see why they were confused. 
Mr. Potomski: Well, what it was is that I was arrested 

on the 14th for not appearing in court on the 20th of that 
month. It really puzzled me. There’s a number of things I 
could point out, and this is one thing. 

I went around to different lawyers in Windsor. I felt 
like I should at least sue them. Off the record—because 
I’m friendly with a few lawyers and we were talking—
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nobody really wanted to handle the case, because it 
wasn’t a big case and they feared reprisal. The lawyers 
feared reprisal, okay? That’s what really got me. I even-
tually hired a lawyer out of Toronto and we settled the 
thing to my satisfaction. I was told that because it was a 
minimal thing—basically, I wanted to get them off my 
back. I’ll give you examples of things, like—this was 
back when, if you had an unpaid parking ticket, you 
could get arrested—I’d show up at 10 o’clock on a 
Sunday morning and there would be a police car waiting 
at the house to pick me up for an unpaid parking ticket. 
Now, that’s 20 years ago. I want to tell you something 
that happened last summer. 

I was arrested for trespassing on property that I was a 
tenant at. I asked for a copy of the police report. The 
cuffs were put on me in front of my business and I asked 
for a copy of the police report. That’s sometime in June, I 
believe it was, give or take a few weeks in there. To this 
day, I have not received it yet. Yes, I can go through the 
whole process and what have you. I don’t know who the 
police officers were. I have no idea, because they don’t 
identify themselves and they don’t have to. I have to tell 
them who I am. They can come and bother me like you 
wouldn’t believe, but I have no idea who they are. They 
have a badge number, which is not their employee num-
ber, and they go through a process—like, they must be 
very paranoid, and I think a lot of them, or whoever set 
the system up, probably should get some psychological 
help. 

Now, my daughter had another situation where she 
made a phone call. The call was a domestic violence call, 
where my brother had hit her. The police showed up for 
the trespassing and they ignored that. She filed a com-
plaint. If you want to see something very intimidating, 
have a 26-year-old go into a police department and sit 
down with two police officers to talk about something 
and all they can do is say how she is wrong. 
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Now, I’ve read this act, and the thing that maybe 
should change isn’t so much whether police investigate 
the police, which I think is a big issue, but the other thing 
is the reprisal part. I think the Ontario Labour Relations 
Board has a very good model for dealing with com-
plaints. If there is a reprisal on any complaint or anything 
before the board, it’s a reverse onus. If you file a 
complaint with them, they also have somebody from the 
board who actually acts as a mediator and sits down and 
talks to the people. They are not associated with either 
the union or the employer; they’re from the board. 

If you sit down and you look at this process: The 
police chief has a lawyer, the director has a lawyer, the 
police officer has a lawyer. If there is any reprisal, the 
complainant has no legal help. They don’t even have 
someone to hold their hand. Then, if there is a reprisal—
and I’m going to tell you, there were reprisals on my 
lawsuit; I’m not going to go into all that. If there was a 
reprisal, this piece of legislation is suggesting that it has 
to be approved by the Attorney General. Well, I raised a 
bit of hell on that during my problems last year. 

It was just in December that I left church in Windsor 
on a Sunday morning. It was about a quarter to nine or 
nine o’clock. My mother had had a stroke the week 
before and she was in the hospital. I pulled out of the 
church parking lot, drove three blocks going to the 
hospital to see my mother, and I got pulled over by a 
police officer. I asked what the problem was. Well, the 
van I drive is under a corporation that I am a president of 
and it’s an out-of-town one. He felt he had to find out 
who was driving the van. He told me point blank that it 
had an out-of-town plate and he wanted to identify the 
person who was driving the van. He pulled me over, 
checked my credentials, and that was his reasoning. I 
don’t know who he is because he doesn’t have to identify 
himself. I just went on my way. Am I going to file a 
complaint? To what end? To have more harassment from 
the police department? Because if I do, I have to make a 
case, I have to spend time, take time off work and 
everything. There’s no help here. 

I don’t know what the purpose of Bill 103 is. In some 
ways it seems like it’s a labour relations bill to deal with 
the management of the police department and the police 
officers. If they have a complaint and take care of a 
citizen, that might be—I don’t know, the movie was 
Collateral Damage, the thing on the side—a collateral 
issue. 

I would ask that if your purpose is to deal with com-
plaints, have it set up, first of all, that police officers have 
to wear a name tag. That’s not a number; a name tag—
with a number. If there is a reprisal, it will be a reverse 
onus so that someone doesn’t have the fear of having to 
make a case. I also would ask that there might be some 
type of person available, whether it be a one-on-one—
I’m not too sure if the funding for this type of operation 
would be similar to the Ontario Labour Relations Board, 
but that somebody can be contacted and you might be 
able to talk to somebody about what is here, what is 
there. Also, it wouldn’t be a bad idea if the mediation 
could be dealt with by a third party from the government, 
not from the police department. 

This was the other thing I found out last year: They 
told me that if I file a complaint on that arresting thing, I 
had to show that they had contravened certain rules. I 
said, “Could I get a copy of those rules?” They said, “No, 
it’s not available.” I’m supposed to have a complaint 
against something they’ve done, but the rules aren’t 
readily available? 

Through the Solicitor General or through the Internet, 
I eventually got somebody to send something out to me. 
But, you know, a lot of people don’t have the time. So I 
think the issue here is, if you have a problem with the 
police department—and in my experience I can probably 
talk about 10 or 12 issues—you’re best not to complain, 
because the repercussions could be worse, and you will 
never know who the police officer is because they protect 
that. 

That’s where I’m at with this. I wish this bill had a 
little more meat as to how you can deal with the common 
guy or woman on the street. That’s where I’m at. If you 
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have any questions or any other issues that you want to 
hear, I’m willing to give them to you. 

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Potomski. We’ve used up 
about 12 minutes, so there are about eight or nine 
minutes, so three minutes per party. We’ll start with Mr. 
Kormos of the NDP. 

Mr. Kormos: Thank you very much for coming here. 
I would invite you to speak with Ms. Stokes, the clerk, 
about getting compensated for your mileage. You’re 
entitled to it. 

Interestingly, people have been hiding behind the 
judicial robes of Mr. LeSage—government people, by 
and large—in terms of saying, “Well, if LeSage didn’t 
recommend it, it’s not in the legislation.” I note, for in-
stance, that LeSage recommended that the six-month 
limitation period be maintained but for when criminal 
charges are laid, and then the six-month limitation period 
should run from the resolution, one way or another, of 
those criminal charges. Am I missing something? Is that 
in the bill somewhere, Mr. Zimmer? I don’t see it there, 
the recommendation by Mr. LeSage. 

Mr. LeSage talks about the need—you spoke to this 
recommendation number 8—for provincial standards for 
police officers. Some police forces and police services do 
this; police officers have to wear easily-read name tags to 
identify themselves. I’m not aware of those standards 
yet—another recommendation by the Honourable Patrick 
J. LeSage, author of the report whose judicial robes the 
government hides behind when it comes to section 97, 
for instance. 

Think about this: If you or any other person who uses 
this new procedure—which still, by and large, uses 
police to investigate police; let’s cut to the chase—have a 
complaint about the process itself, no longer a complaint 
about the police officer or police service, but a complaint 
about the process itself, you’ve got nowhere to go. This 
is because the government, by virtue of section 97, says 
that people can’t go to the Ombudsman to request the 
Ombudsman to commence an inquiry into the process, 
just like the Ombudsman has with respect to the Family 
Responsibility Office or just like the Ombudsman has 
with respect to the incredibly Byzantine and difficult 
process that sick people have to undergo in the province 
of Ontario to get out-of-province health treatment. 

So I appreciate you coming. You bring a very human, 
real-life, real-world—this isn’t about statutes and sec-
tions; it’s about real people. And quite frankly, it’s about 
the relationship between citizenry and their police offi-
cers in a community. I thank you very much. 

Mr. Potomski: There is one thing I’ve got to add in 
there. 

Mr. Kormos: Sure. 
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Mr. Potomski: The original comments that I had, the 
problem with the police at the beginning: I used to have 
troubles with the marriage break-up, with custody, access 
and all that. Once I got the police off my back through a 
court process, I eventually got custody of my kids. That’s 

something that legislation doesn’t help. You can’t get rid 
of the police if they’re bothering you. 

The Chair: Thank you. We’ll move on, then, to the 
Liberal Party. Any questions? 

Mr. Zimmer: Thank you very much for your pres-
entation and for coming down from Windsor. 

The Chair: We’ll move on to the PC Party. 
Mr. Runciman: Thank you again for coming all this 

way to make a contribution. It is much appreciated. I 
know that your story with respect to domestic disputes is 
not unfamiliar. I had a public forum in my own com-
munity sponsored by the local bar and certainly that was 
a major concern from the perspective of husbands or ex-
husbands: that there seems to be a real bias built into the 
justice system in the province with respect to how police 
and the crown approach these kinds of issues. It’s a 
concern that I think the officials should be taking a look 
at and assessing the merit in terms of how we proceed in 
the future with these kinds of situations. 

Mr. Potomski: The issue that happened to me, I 
would step up here and say it wasn’t so much sexism and 
sexist people and all this. It was a matter of who you 
knew, from what I understand, as opposed to the sexism 
or not, in my case. Like I said, once I got rid of the police 
department and people my in-laws knew, I eventually got 
custody of my kids. 

Mr. Kormos: But, Chair, who you know is still pre-
valent. Raminder Gill got appointed a citizenship judge 
without going through the process, I’m sure, because of 
who he knew. 

Mr. Runciman: No, no. Don’t be so cynical. 
The Chair: Thank you for your presentation, Mr. 

Potomski. 

OTTAWA WITNESS GROUP 
The Chair: We will move on now to our next pres-

entation, which is a video-conference with the Ontario 
Witness Group. Good morning, Paul Durber and John 
Baglow. There has been a slight delay here. Good morn-
ing. You have 20 minutes to make your presentation. 
Whatever time you don’t use, the three parties will utilize 
to ask questions of you. Welcome to the committee. 

Mr. Paul Durber: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-
man. I’m Paul Durber and my colleague here is John 
Baglow. I believe you have our written presentation, and 
what we’d like to do is to talk about where we see the bill 
needing to be strengthened. Particularly, we see some 
areas such as the objectives of the bill and also some 
specifics. 

Pardon me if my speech seems a little broken, because 
we’re getting the feedback here. 

Mr. John Baglow: Yes, we’re hearing ourselves. 
The Chair: Okay. 
Mr. Durber: I believe you have a copy of our written 

presentation. 
The Chair: Yes, we do. 
Mr. Durber: Good; thank you. We think that having 

objectives for this bill would be especially important for 
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audits, for understanding the effectiveness of the bill, and 
particularly for giving people education on this particular 
bill. 

You will see that we note the principles in the Ontario 
Police Service Act. We don’t see in there anywhere 
issues of accountability, fairness and equity. We do urge 
the committee to add a statement of what you hope this 
bill is to stand for. Therefore, we suggest you add values 
of meaningful accountability and equity to an opening 
declaration. 

I’m going to hand over to my colleague, John Baglow, 
a discussion of some of our other recommendations, but 
before I get there I would also like to emphasize that we 
worry a little about one particular constraint which was 
highlighted by Mr. Justice LeSage: that there be no more 
than 50% of IPRD investigators who are former police 
officers. 

Mr. Baglow: The Ottawa Witness Group believes that 
within the proper context, so long as initial hearings, 
third-party review and third-party investigations are 
assured, we can expect police investigations to tend gen-
erally to be thorough and above board. We’re concerned, 
however, that an actual hearing is delinked from these 
investigations and indeed may take place only after 
several more steps in the complaints process. We would 
strongly support the right to an automatic initial hearing 
close to the beginning of the process in which a com-
plainant or representative may appear to argue his or her 
case and in which both parties would table their respec-
tive information and evidence, much like an examination 
for discovery. In the federal government there has been 
an appeal process where there is an initial disclosure 
phase. It would, to some extent, resemble that. 

This hearing would act as a filter—sorry, did we cut 
out for a moment? 

The Chair: Yes, you did, just when you were saying 
the word “filter.” 

Mr. Baglow: Thank you. This hearing would act as a 
filter, revealing to both parties the strengths and weak-
nesses of the case at hand, and in many instances either 
precluding further action on the part of a complainant or 
encouraging immediate remedial action by the chief of 
police. Certainly, when they brought in the disclosure 
phase for the appeal system in the federal regime, the 
number of appeals was cut back. 

Our recommendation is that an opportunity for an 
initial hearing be accorded a complainant upon the com-
pletion of an internal police investigation or of an IPRD 
investigation if the complaint is retained, and that that 
hearing normally take place no later than three months 
after the complaint is submitted. 

We would also suggest that, rather than reviewing the 
findings of the chief of police after an internal police 
investigation—and that’s the IPRD’s scope of review at 
the moment—the IPRD would review those findings in 
light of the evidence brought out at the hearing and be 
authorized, in addition, to review the hearing process 
itself. 

The IPRD is accorded quite a lot of power, so much 
will depend upon how those powers are exercised. For 

greater clarity and certainty, therefore, the legislation, we 
feel, should be more explicit. 

We recommend that the revised act specify the pur-
pose of establishing this post, identify the specific values 
that the IPRD is expected to uphold in managing the 
complaints process—for example, transparency, fairness, 
accountability and credibility—and define the account-
ability framework within which the IPRD will carry out 
his or her duties. 

The IPRD appears to us to have too much power in 
one respect and too little in another. Once an investi-
gation is carried out by the IPRD and a complaint is 
considered unfounded, the process appears to stop. There 
is no appeal possible on the part of the complainant, and 
we refer you to subsections 68(2) and 87(1). Further-
more, if the IPRD upholds the police after reviewing, 
under subsection 71(1), the findings of the chief of police 
after a complaint has been initially referred to investi-
gation, there appears to be no right of appeal in that 
circumstance either. So the scope of appeal for a com-
plainant—and we ask the committee to please put your-
selves in the place of a complainant when you’re 
reviewing this legislation; think what it’s like for the 
complainant—their scope is very, very restricted by the 
current draft of the legislation. 

We also recommend—I’m sorry, we’ve been through 
the recommendation, I guess, in other words. 
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The IPRD may review, upon the request of the com-
plainant, the finding of a chief of police that a complaint 
is unsubstantiated or not of a serious nature and choose 
from a variety of actions under subsection 71(3), but this 
doesn’t seem to include referral to the Ontario com-
mission. A complaint finds its way to the OCPC only 
when a complainant, after a hearing, exercises his or her 
option to appeal the outcome to the commission. 

We recommend that upon the completion of the 
review of the findings of a chief of police, the IPRD have 
the explicit authority to refer the case directly to the 
commission for appropriate disposition. 

I’ll hand things over Paul now. 
Mr. Durber: Thank you, John. On page 4 of our sub-

mission, we begin with the question of penalties. We’ve 
noted here in Ottawa, for example, that some relatively 
egregious offences against complainants have resulted in 
absolutely minimal wrist-slapping. This follows, I think, 
on John’s proposal that appeal on penalty also be per-
mitted. At the very least, we think that the IPRD should 
specifically be required to review the issue of penalty 
and, if necessary, be able to refer the issue to the com-
mission. So you will see there our recommendation 8. 

As with some other speakers, we are very concerned 
about access. Police do, whether they wish to or not, 
exercise a certain intimidation by virtue of their author-
ity, particularly on the young or the marginalized. We 
would really like to stress that public accessibility to the 
complaints procedure must be a fundamental component 
of a successful civilian complaints regime. While we 
applaud the provision in subsection 58(4), which pro-
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vides for public education and assistance, we do believe 
that the IPRD should be required to establish regional 
offices. 

We also think there should be some guidelines set out 
in the act for the IPRD to provide a certain standard of 
assistance to a potential complainant. 

We believe that these recommendations to you are 
with the spirit and intent of the proposed legislation 
which you have before you, as well as the report from 
Mr. Justice LeSage. We look forward to hearing your 
questions, if any. Thank you so much for the opportunity 
of appearing. 

The Chair: Thank you. We have almost nine minutes 
for questions. We’ll start with the Liberal Party. Are 
there any questions at all? 

Mr. Crozier: I guess not. Thank you very much for 
your presentation, and we’ll forward the time to someone 
else. 

The Chair: We’ll move on, then, to the Progressive 
Conservative Party. 

Mr. Runciman: I would echo the thanks of the com-
mittee for your contribution to the process. I’m just curi-
ous about the fact that we heard extensively yesterday the 
issue of whether or not there should be oversight through 
the Ombudsman’s office for IPRD. You haven’t spoken 
to that. I wonder if you have a view related to that issue. 

Mr. Baglow: Thank you for the question. We didn’t 
get specific about the type of oversight that would be 
required. We did say that the accountability framework 
should be spelled out in the legislation. Certainly the in-
volvement of the Ombudsman would be useful, but that 
doesn’t necessarily have to be the solution to this. 

The problem now is that a tremendous amount 
depends upon the discretion of the IPRD, the mindset of 
the IPRD. So with someone whose mindset is really 
toward the right of the complainant, for example, we’d be 
fine; otherwise, not. There doesn’t seem to be any real 
check on the power, or at least on the fairly unfettered 
discretion of the IPRD, so certainly the involvement of 
the Ombudsman would be one possibility for accoun-
tability. 

Mr. Durber: Perhaps I could just add to that. In terms 
of checks and balances, I do believe that it’s very import-
ant that there be provisions in the act for help to local 
groups who would be available to help complainants. I 
think, as the act stands right now, there is a great deal of 
emphasis placed on police investigation. I’m not sure that 
that can be avoided. Our group is generally supportive, 
with some worries, but we do think that some of those 
worries could be resolved if there were clear checks and 
balances afforded within the working of the bill, and we 
don’t believe at the moment that there actually are. The 
Ombudsman is another person from outside. We do think 
that there need to be checks and balances within the sys-
tem that is set up; for example, through help lines, 
through helping local groups and representative and 
consultative groups. 

Mr. Runciman: I’m not taking issue with that. I’m 
just curious, on the other side of the coin, though, about 

what your view would be with respect to what you might 
describe as a serial frivolous complainant. Should there 
be some sort of a fee attached to someone who engages 
in that kind of an activity on a regular basis? 

Mr. Baglow: I think that would really discourage a lot 
of complaints that wouldn’t in their nature be frivolous 
and vexatious. It seems to us that the bill already contains 
enough ammunition, if you like, to discourage frivolous 
complaints without the threat of being fined, in effect, if 
you put in a complaint that someone finds frivolous and 
vexatious. We certainly do think that the simple dismissal 
of a complaint for that reason should be subject to 
review, but I don’t think putting in a user fee for making 
complaints is the way to go. 

Mr. Durber: Just to follow up on that, one of the 
difficulties we have at the moment is that the current 
system is pretty broken. A lot of people really don’t see 
any potential benefit in lodging complaints. To have 
further barriers in the way to meet exceptions, I think, 
would send a signal that the Legislature is actually not 
interested in solving the broken system, if I could be 
terribly blunt about it. 

The Chair: We’ll now move on to the NDP. Mr. 
Kormos will ask his questions. 

Mr. Kormos: I read your submission and I see an 
opening comment welcoming the legislation, but for the 
life of me—as I had occasion to ask people earlier—the 
legislation seems to do very little to change the funda-
mental issue of police investigating police. The vast, vast 
majority of complaints are going to be referred to, if not 
the local police force, an adjoining police force, where 
it’s going to be active, on-duty career police officers 
investigating other career police officers. Why are you 
and so many others so grateful to this government for this 
legislation when it does so little to fundamentally address 
the concern, we’re told, about police investigating 
police? What’s going on here? 
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Mr. Zimmer: It might just be good legislation. 
Mr. Kormos: Well, let’s find out. 
Mr. Baglow: Our group is perhaps not as concerned 

about this, with the proper framework in place, as some 
others. I come out of the labour movement myself. I’m 
familiar with the administrative grievance procedure 
within the federal public service and that’s really inter-
nally handled as well, but it’s always subject to oversight. 
It’s subject to oversight from a third party. It’s subject to 
review. It’s subject even to the court system if you have 
to pursue it that far. 

Those kinds of checks tend to encourage, although not 
always, a clean process. If it were just the police doing 
the same thing as before, and investigating themselves 
and accountable to no one, which is pretty much the case 
now, I would entirely agree with you. But so long as a 
police investigation is going to be subject to some pretty 
harsh scrutiny by outsiders, and so long as you get a 
hearing in which you can put forward your point of view 
and find out what the other side has, with all of those 
checks and balances in place, we don’t really have as 
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much of a problem with an internal police investigation 
as some others might. 

Mr. Kormos: Mind you, things may well have 
changed, and probably have, since I practised law, but I 
recall oh, so clearly how, when citizens complained 
about police misconduct that would amount to a crime, 
they got a 20-minute lecture at the local police station by 
the police officer investigating it about mischief charges 
and about the prospect of being charged themselves if 
they falsely accuse somebody else of committing an 
offence. Boy, if that wasn’t a deterrent, nothing was. 
Those people skedaddled so fast out of that police 
station, you could see the trail of rubber. 

John Clarke, well-known and, in some circles, notori-
ous, spokesperson for OCAP, with the assistance of the 
very capable Peter Rosenthal, a professor of mathematics 
and a lawyer, just got himself an award, a judgment, for 
police misconduct. Why aren’t groups like yours and 
others using Small Claims Court, for instance, more fre-
quently to literally seek damages for police misconduct, 
rather than resorting to what could amount to in-house 
procedures like that even being proposed by this legis-
lation? 

Mr. Baglow: We’re a volunteer group, first of all, 
with no budget— 

Mr. Kormos: So is Peter Rosenthal. 
Mr. Baglow: —and we don’t pursue claims in Small 

Claims Court. But on top of that, I really have to say that 
I would prefer a complaints process for the average 
complainant who is not familiar with the system and is 
quite intimidated by it. For them, having to take civil 
action is simply beyond the reach of most people and 
certainly beyond the reach of marginalized people and 
beyond the reach of a number of others who have been in 
the past subject, if I could put it that way, to abusive 
authority by police. 

Paul, you had some things to say? 
Mr. Durber: Perhaps I could just add that we agree, 

Mr. Kormos, that it’s very intimidating for people to have 
to go to police stations. We know a great number of 
people who don’t even want to give their names for fear 
of reprisal in one way or another. So we think that it’s 
very, very important that there be a good system for in-
take through the IPRD, that there be a clear presence of 
the IPRD as close to the ground as possible to stop the 
very kind of intimidation that people either believe they 
might suffer from or indeed do. 

Mr. Kormos: A final point: What about direct elec-
tion of police services boards? Wouldn’t that be demo-
cratic, and wouldn’t that generate an accountability that 
doesn’t exist now? 

Mr. Baglow: Justice LeSage actually talked about 
community advisory boards that might be a somewhat 
better procedure. Once you have an election, it’s game 
over until the next one. His proposal for community 
advisory boards—and they’re not the same ones that are 
talked about in the bill—would allow dialogue to take 
place within the communities and would be another 
avenue to bring out systemic problems with local police 
forces. 

Mr. Kormos: You’re right: another LeSage recom-
mendation that wasn’t followed. 

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Durber and Mr. Baglow, 
for your presentation. We’ll take your comments as well 
as your presentation into consideration. We thank you for 
coming to us all the way from Ottawa today. 

URBAN ALLIANCE ON RACE RELATIONS 
The Chair: We’ll move on to our next presentation, 

the Urban Alliance on Race Relations. I understand, 
members of the committee, that instead of Michelle Cho, 
we have Tam Goossen along with Mr. Dharmalingam— 

Ms. Tam Goossen: And Sri-Guggan Sri-Skanda-
Rajah. 

The Chair: Good afternoon. You have 20 minutes to 
make your presentation. You’ve probably heard the 
rules—that if you don’t use it up for your presentation, 
the members of the committee can ask you questions. 

Ms. Goossen: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. I’m 
Tam Goossen and I’m the vice-president of Urban 
Alliance. Audi Dharmalingam is a past president and 
founding member, and Sri is the president of our organ-
ization. 

Thank you very much for the opportunity to make this 
presentation in front of you. First of all, the Urban Alli-
ance on Race Relations formed in July 1975 to promote a 
stable and healthy multi-racial environment. It’s a non-
profit organization made up of volunteers from all sectors 
of the community. Just to emphasize, we’re all volunteers 
donating intensive time for the organization. Through 
research, education and advocacy activities, the Urban 
Alliance focuses its efforts on the institutions of our so-
ciety, including the public education system, the police 
and justice system, media, employment and human re-
sources policies from different levels of government in 
order to reduce patterns of discrimination and inequity of 
opportunity in these institutions. 

I’m going to jump right to: In June 2000, the Urban 
Alliance, together with the Queen Street Patients Coun-
cil, the Toronto police, the Toronto Police Services 
Board and other community organizations, held an 
historic conference called Saving Lives: Alternatives to 
the Use of Lethal Force by Police. The issues explored 
included race in police shootings, mental health issues, 
less-than-lethal technology and barriers to change. The 
conference proceedings and recommendations are con-
tained in a report bearing the same name. I left two 
copies with the clerk. The Urban Alliance now partici-
pates in a group that is looking at ways to implement the 
recommendations in that report. This group is being co-
chaired by Chief Blair and its membership includes 
members from the police services board and other com-
munity groups. 

Not surprisingly, the Urban Alliance was one of the 
groups that held discussions with Mr. Justice LeSage. 
Like our colleagues, we supported the principles set out 
by his report and agreed with many of his recommend-
ations. 
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We would like to commend the government for 
appointing Mr. Justice LeSage to do the report in the first 
place and now, through Bill 103, to make some of his key 
recommendations a reality. 

Because of time constraints, we will focus on a few 
specific aspects of Bill 103 that we discussed at our con-
ference way back in 2000 and with Mr. Justice LeSage. 

First of all, though, I need to emphasize a concern that 
we share with many of our colleagues that under Bill 
103, police are, in essence, still investigating public com-
plaints about the police and that the Attorney General 
must take necessary steps, including a timely review, to 
remedy this key shortcoming. 

The first thing I want to focus on, actually, is the name 
change of OCCPS from Ontario Civilian Commission on 
Police Services to Ontario Civilian Police Commission. 
In our conference report, under the chapter “Community 
Policing Defined,” there was intense discussion of the 
important role that civilian oversight bodies of the police, 
such as municipal police service boards and OCCPS, 
should and could play in fully realizing the concept of 
community policing. The dismantling of the police 
complaints system by the previous government was seen 
not only as indicative of the government’s lack of com-
mitment to true civilian accountability; it was also 
viewed as most troubling for what it reflected about the 
absence of any regard or recognition for the statutory role 
of OCCPS. 

Conference participants from all constituencies agreed 
that community policing is not simply for front-line 
police officers or police service brass; it is also the re-
sponsibility of all who purport to hold institutional 
responsibilities. No agency can maintain credibility with 
complacency. It behooves all to participate and to reach 
out to explore the possibilities of true community 
policing. 
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In the LeSage report, in expressing significant frus-
tration with the complexity of the current system, com-
munity groups emphasized the fact that they did not 
understand the role of OCCPS, and criticisms were made 
of the commission for failing to effectively provide the 
needed oversight within the complaints system. Further 
in the report, Mr. Justice LeSage commented on how 
OCCPS’ many roles—investigative, adjudicative and 
appellate—may in some cases lead to difficulties. 

Our recommendation: It is our opinion that, in addi-
tion to a new name change, it is important to review and 
clarify the many roles and functions of OCCPS and how 
they relate to the new independent police review director 
and its office. It’s also important that the finding of this 
review be made public to the community so that there 
will be no confusion about the two civilian oversight 
bodies. 

Second is the appointment process of IPRD. One of 
the key recommendations of our conference report is on 
transparency and accountability. Accepting that effective 
and credible leadership is the key to progress in com-
munity policing, the report recommends that the com-

munity have an increased voice in the appointment 
process of key policing positions, including the chair of 
OCCPS, the director of the SIU, chairs of police services 
boards and chiefs of police services. The process of these 
appointments should be characterized by transparency 
and public accountability and should consist of public 
consultation hearings by the appropriate minister or 
police services board prior to such appointment. 

For an actual example, prior to the appointment of 
Chief Blair, the Urban Alliance was one of the com-
munity groups that had participated in the public con-
sultation organized by the Toronto Police Services Board 
to give input on what we expected from the chief of 
police. The process itself was an important piece in re-
building the trust between the community and police. We 
recommend that the Attorney General should seek com-
munity input on the criteria for choosing the IPRD. The 
process used by the Toronto Police Services Board 
should be used as a “best practice” guide in this respect. 

Third is the annual report and review of systemic 
issues. In the case of the special investigations unit, the 
individual and collective investigations of the SIU com-
prise a unique body of information related to the use of 
force by police officers which could be analyzed and 
utilized to make observations related to trends in the use 
of force and recommendations regarding changes or 
improvements in such usage. The director of the SIU is 
ideally positioned to undertake analysis and make obser-
vations and recommendations for the benefit of the 
public and the police. 

We support that the IPRD will file an annual report 
with the Attorney General. What we would like to further 
suggest, though, is that this annual report go beyond the 
general affairs of the office of the IPRD to include a 
review of systemic issues that give rise to complaints and 
make recommendations to the appropriate governing 
bodies—the Solicitor General, Attorney General, chiefs 
of police and police services boards. As well, this annual 
report should contain IPRD efforts to provide public 
education and assistance about the public complaints 
system. This expanded annual report and recommend-
ations for action must go to the Legislature and be 
actively shared with the community in public forums. 

Fourth is resources. On the issue of adequate and 
sustained funding for this new office, the relevant section 
of the LeSage report bears repeating: 

“Almost all of the groups and individuals spoke about 
the importance of properly resourcing the complaints 
system.... In 1996, its last full year of operation, the 
police complaints commission had an annual budget of 
$4.1 million and the board of inquiry had a budget of 
$0.6 million. OCCPS had a budget of $0.7 million. When 
the police complaints commission and the board of 
inquiry were abolished, the OCCPS budget was increased 
by about $1 million. As a result, almost $4 million”—
that’s close to 70% of the funding—“was withdrawn 
from the complaints system.” 

Considering that Ontarians pay $2.8 billion each year 
for public policing, Mr. Justice LeSage recommended 
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that funding must be sufficient to ensure that the new 
independent body is able to operate in a manner that 
ensures public confidence in the police complaints sys-
tem. Our recommendation: We couldn’t agree with him 
more. 

In conclusion, we would like to share with you the 
words of wisdom of a former Justice of the Ontario 
Superior Court, George W. Adams: 

“Policing is the provision of an important public 
service. However, unlike most public service providers, 
the police are given extraordinary powers to detain civil-
ians and, when reasonably necessary, to prevent death or 
serious injury to themselves or civilians, to use lethal 
force.” 

Review and complaint mechanisms are therefore 
essential to ensure that the police are accountable for the 
use of those extraordinary powers. 

Bill 103 is an important first step towards the re-
building of accountability, trust and respect between the 
community and the police, but there remains a lot to be 
done. Thank you. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation. Do you 
want to add anything more or is that basically your 
presentation? 

Mr. Audi Dharmalingam: We can take on the ques-
tions. 

The Chair: Okay, great; thank you. We have about 
three minutes per party, and we’ll start with the Conser-
vative Party. 

Mr. Dunlop: We have no questions. 
The Chair: The NDP: Mr. Kormos. 
Mr. Kormos: Thank you kindly for your comments. 

Appointment process: Let’s take a minute to reflect on, 
let’s say, the Environmental Commissioner, Gord Miller, 
or the Ombudsman, André Marin, both of whom are 
officers of the assembly who were hired as a result of a 
job posting, applying for the job, being vetted by an all-
party committee and being approved by an all-party 
committee. Both of them are people who have been 
fearless in the performance of their roles. Let’s compare 
that with Barbara Hall, for instance, who didn’t apply to 
any—the position of commissioner of the Ontario Human 
Rights Commission: Once the vacancy was there, it 
wasn’t in the Toronto Star jobs column. People didn’t 
apply. She’s a political appointment—and not incom-
petent; far from incompetent. But contrast her be-
haviour—because when Bill 107 was announced, for 
instance, she had proverbial pom-poms in her hands 
cheering on the government with respect to Bill 107. I 
just say, that’s the contrast between an officer of the 
assembly and a political appointment. 

How do we prevent a political hack from enjoying 
pork-barrel patronage in the appointment? Are you sug-
gesting that the role of IPRD be that of an officer of the 
assembly? 

Mr. Sri-Guggan Sri-Skanda-Rajah: If I may take 
that question—thank you, Mr. Kormos. That would be 
the ideal, considering the history of the police complaints 
process and the manner in which people are being sel-

ected, people who are competent, but the way the process 
was handled lost the confidence of the community. The 
community was not satisfied with the way the results 
were being handled, the adjudications, etc. 

Mr. Kormos: While we’re talking about that, is there 
any role for provincial appointments—again, more often 
than not political hacks to local police services boards, 
who are really the first level of police oversight, aren’t 
they? It’s the first civilian level of police oversight. Why 
the heck are we tolerating provincial appointments of un-
elected people—not always, but almost always political 
hacks—to those very important positions? 

Mr. Sri-Skanda-Rajah: Offering an individual per-
spective, the best way to win the confidence of the 
community, especially racialized and marginalized com-
munities, is to make this appointment an appointment of 
the Legislature so that the report comes directly to the 
Legislature. It also then explains why the Ombudsman 
doesn’t have oversight into this particular matter. I 
believe there’s a way that activity is being excluded. That 
is, in my view, the best way to regain that confidence. 
And it will show the commitment of this government if it 
ventures that route. The director’s report filed with the 
Legislature could be shared with the Attorney General 
and all other relevant ministries that have responsibility 
for policing services. That’s my recommendation. 

My other issue, if I may add to that, is that commun-
ities for over 30 years have been demanding civilian 
investigation, reporting and decision-making, another 
fundamentally important principle in winning their con-
fidence. A whole number of people just do not go and 
make complaints. 
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Sometime earlier on, somebody talked about intimid-
ation and reprisal. When I used to be the legal worker for 
the black community in the late 1970s, I personally 
witnessed that type of intimidation, going to assist a 
person to lay a complaint when the complainant’s office 
was at Lawrence and Yonge Street, and listening to the 
sergeant basically telling the guy, “Just forget it,” and 
leaving the place without filing a complaint. Of course, 
his assumption was that I was a typical non-assertive 
south Asian, whereas I was there to assist the gentleman. 
It was only after I asserted myself as his agent with the 
right to file a complaint that the complaint was written 
down. We have come a long way from there; there are 
improvements. However, I think we have to go that step 
further and ensure total independence. 

The Chair: Thank you. We’ll move to the Liberal 
Party. 

Mr. Zimmer: Thank you very much for your sub-
missions. The Urban Alliance on Race Relations has 
been around since the mid-1970s—1975. So you’ve got 
30— 

Ms. Goossen: Yes, 32 years. 
Mr. Zimmer: So 32 years of experience in this. In 

many ways you are the leader in this— 
The Chair: Mr. Zimmer, could you please move your 

microphone a little bit closer? 
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Mr. Zimmer: Your organization was one of the early 
leaders in this field. We’ve always enjoyed and looked 
forward to your submissions, which we shall consider 
carefully. 

The Chair: No further questions? 
We thank you for your presentation today. 
Mr. Dharmalingam: Just a comment, sir. 
The Chair: Certainly. 
Mr. Dharmalingam: As Mr. Zimmer said, I have 

been involved with the alliance since its inception, and I 
have been coming to this organization a number of times, 
except I find the number has kind of dwindled a little bit. 
A lot more audience used to come down here. 

My concern is the racist issue in the interests of the 
community and as individuals, basically. What we would 
like to see is that when we come before this kind of com-
mittee the issues are taken very seriously, and the 
perception you’re going to give the community is how 
you are going to create the trust and confidence. We are 
not saying the police are bad, but the thing is, there is an 
accountability factor we’re talking about. I have yet to 
find out who is accountable to whom. I keep asking the 
questions, and I’m here to get an answer. So I’m saying 
that when we come before this kind of body, we need to 
find out who is accountable to whom. Are the police 
accountable to themselves, or to a body like this, or to the 
chief? We don’t know that. I have been struggling with it 
for about 30 years, so I would like to go back with a 
feeling that somebody is listening, somebody is going to 
do something in a very sincere—the community gets the 
message: “Hey, they mean business,” and that the police 
get the same message also. They’re all good cops, but 
they need some accountability factor, and you are the 
body that can do that: that the person you are going to 
appoint is much more independent, has some guts and 
backbone to do these kinds of things. Thank you. 

The Chair: Thank you very much. We’ll take that 
into consideration as we consider the bill tomorrow on a 
clause-by-clause basis. 

Mr. Dharmalingam: Thank you. 
The Chair: So we’ll continue our deputations— 
Mr. Kormos: Can you assure us of that, Chair, that 

we’ll take it into consideration? 
The Chair: I can just speak on behalf of myself that I 

will take it into consideration. 
We are recessed until 2 p.m. 
The committee recessed from 1225 to 1406. 

PSYCHIATRIC PATIENT 
ADVOCATE OFFICE 

The Chair: I call the meeting of the standing com-
mittee on justice policy back to order. We’ll continue our 
public deputations. 

Our first deputation for this afternoon is the Psychi-
atric Patient Advocate Office; Mr. David Simpson, di-
rector, and Lisa Romano, legal counsel. 

Good afternoon, and welcome. Basically, we’re allow-
ing 20 minutes per deputation, and then if there’s any 

time left after your presentation, we’ll just do questions 
from the three parties. 

Mr. David Simpson: Good afternoon. My name is 
David Simpson. I’m the acting director of the Psychiatric 
Patient Advocate Office. With me today is Lisa Romano, 
our legal counsel. We would like to thank the committee 
for the opportunity to share our recommendations with 
you in hopes that they will be adopted to strengthen Bill 
103 and create a truly independent police complaints 
process that has the confidence of the people of Ontario. 

We are pleased that the government of Ontario is 
considering establishing an independent police review 
system. Unfortunately, Bill 103 will not create the 
independent process envisioned by the people of Ontario, 
nor will it enshrine necessary and needed civilian over-
sight and accountability in the review process. By strik-
ing out one single word in this legislation, the word 
“referral,” the objective could be achieved—a simple yet 
monumental change. 

We need a police complaints process that has strong 
civilian oversight, a process that is fair, a process that is 
transparent and that can withstand scrutiny, and one that 
will allow the Ombudsman of Ontario, as a last resort, to 
review concerns raised by the people of Ontario. Let me 
begin by saying that many of our recommendations are 
based on the premise that a truly independent com-
mission needs to be established. However, if that is not to 
be, you will note that we make comment on how to im-
prove the current provisions in Bill 103. 

The Psychiatric Patient Advocate Office, a rights pro-
tection organization, provides independent and confi-
dential advocacy and rights advice services to consumers 
of and those seeking access to mental health services. We 
work to empower consumers to make informed decisions 
about their care, treatment and legal rights. In 2005, we 
had more than 25,000 patient contacts and provided 
service in 48 languages. 

Some consumers of mental health services inform our 
office of alleged police misconduct but fail to complain 
formally out of fear of reprisal by the police and 
frustration with the existing complaints process. Our 
clients complain that the system is dismissive of com-
plaints lodged by individuals with mental health histories 
or because it is alleged that the complaint constitutes 
“part of their illness,” while others say they are discour-
aged from filing complaints or that their complaints are 
not investigated fully or fairly. Due to the vulnerability 
and discrimination of many mental health consumers, 
there is a profound power imbalance between consumers 
and the police. Failure to respond adequately to legiti-
mate complaints of police misconduct fails not only the 
wronged person but the public, the police and the 
government. The current police complaints process does 
not have the confidence of most mental health consumers 
and their families. 

On page 7, you’ll see that we talk about the need for 
an independent civilian body. The fundamental flaw with 
both the current complaints process and the process 
articulated by Bill 103 is the lack of civilian oversight. 
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Many people, including consumers, are reluctant to lodge 
complaints regarding alleged police misconduct because 
they do not have faith in the process that permits police 
officers to investigate other police officers. The process 
is perceived as being designed to protect the police 
instead of the public interest. 

In April 2005, Justice LeSage released a report 
regarding the findings and recommendations based on his 
thorough review of the police complaints system. The 
number one recommendation was the creation of an 
independent civilian body to administer the public com-
plaints system in Ontario. The Attorney General com-
mitted to doing so, but sadly, he has failed with Bill 103. 

In our opinion, the proposed legislation does not 
represent a significant change from the current regime, 
and it is not independent. Although an independent police 
review director is established to deal with complaints, 
there is no guarantee of an independent investigation 
because the director can refer complaints to the police, 
who will then investigate themselves. The PPAO be-
lieves the potential exists for the director to refer the 
majority of cases to police forces due to funding and 
external pressures, thus undermining the independence 
promised to Ontarians. 

Bill 103 also endorses a two-tiered system where there 
are different procedures for complaints respecting officer 
conduct versus policies and services. The PPAO 
recommends that all complaints should be handled in the 
same way. Policy complaints are as important as mis-
conduct and work performance complaints, as policies 
can potentially affect the lives of many people. As you 
heard yesterday, the ARCH Disability Law Centre agrees 
that there should not be a distinction between conduct 
and policies, as “the conduct of officers is often a 
reflection of a policy within the police services.” 

On page 10 of our submission, you’ll see our com-
ments regarding the independent police review director. 
Instead of being appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in 
Council on the recommendation of the Attorney General, 
the director should be responsible to the Legislative 
Assembly. The PPAO would support any move to 
increase the autonomy of the director, as it would provide 
him or her with the necessary independence to work 
without interference or the potential of real or perceived 
conflict of interest. 

The patient advocate office is in agreement with 
restrictions on employees of the new body requiring that 
they not be police officers, but we feel it should be 
bolstered to preclude former police officers from being 
employees. Our rationale is that former police officers 
may feel obligated to protect those officers being 
investigated due to their similar and shared experiences. 

You’ll note that we also comment on the review of 
systemic issues. The director has the ability to “examine 
and review issues of a systemic nature” pertaining to 
public complaints and to make recommendations to 
various organizations and government bodies. While the 
PPAO supports the examination and review of systemic 
issues, we are concerned that this power will be akin to a 

toothless tiger if the director is not required to investigate 
systemic issues. The director must also have the ability to 
conduct own-motion investigations and have authority to 
enforce recommendations. Any recommendations should 
also be made available to the public, either through 
special reports or the annual reporting process. 

Ms. Romano will now continue with the remainder of 
our submission. 

Ms. Lisa Romano: The first topic I am going to speak 
about is access to the complaints system. This can be 
found on page 12 of our submission. The complaints 
process needs to be as user-friendly as possible to make it 
accessible to all Ontarians. There are several ways in 
which this can be accomplished. 

The first means of achieving accessibility is to ensure 
that third parties are able to make police complaints. 
Third parties should specifically include community 
organizations and advocacy groups. Currently, Bill 103 is 
unclear and confusing about the role of third parties. The 
PPAO has heard of many complaints that go unchecked 
simply because the individual does not have the capacity 
or ability to make a complaint in their own right due to 
their illness or disability. Many consumers of mental 
health services may not always recall the details 
surrounding their interaction with police. On the other 
hand, friends, family members or staff at community 
organizations who were either present during the incident 
or made aware of the details shortly afterwards may be in 
a position to assist. 

Some consumers may have more pressing issues in 
their life to address than police complaints, such as find-
ing accommodation or employment or focusing on recov-
ery. Some consumers don’t have a fixed or permanent 
address, so it’s difficult for them to receive corre-
spondence or to be kept informed of the progress of their 
complaint. Involving a third party would take care of 
some of these concerns. 

Individuals should be given the opportunity to have a 
person of choice to provide support and assist with their 
complaint from initiation to resolution. Many consumers 
would appreciate having this support, as the process can 
be stressful, intimidating and overwhelming. 

The PPAO also believes that police officers and staff 
should not be prohibited from bringing complaints as 
they are in a unique position to be aware of possible 
wrongdoings committed by other officers or problems 
arising from egregious police policies. 

Whistle-blower protections should also be put in place 
to safeguard the rights of an individual who has the cour-
age to step forward to report inappropriate police actions. 

Another way to increase accessibility is to permit 
complaints to be made by a variety of means and with 
linguistic assistance. Instead of only allowing written 
complaints, individuals should be able to submit them 
verbally by telephone or in person. A writing requirement 
makes the system inaccessible to those with special 
needs, such as those people who are functionally illiterate 
or who are unable to communicate in English or French. 

The LeSage report noted the linguistic and cultural 
diversity in the province and the need for accommo-
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dation. We believe that there should be service provision 
in a multiplicity of languages at no additional cost to the 
complainant for such things as complaint forms, written 
materials, support services and translation at hearings. 
Education and outreach programs must also take the 
language, communication and cultural needs of individ-
uals into account. 

Education is a powerful tool to effect social change. 
Many consumers of mental health services either are 
fearful of or do not trust the police. This trust must be re-
established, and one of the easiest ways to do so is to 
have police officers undergo regular education about 
interacting appropriately with persons with mental illness 
and being sensitive to the stereotypes and stigma that 
many consumers live with on a daily basis. 

We also recommend the establishment of various ad-
visory groups respecting vulnerable populations to assist 
with the education of police and the public, in addition to 
analyzing systemic issues endemic to these groups and 
providing advice to the director. 

Education for consumers, families, service providers, 
advocates and other stakeholders regarding the police 
complaints process, how to access it and how to make 
complaints is also essential. The LeSage report advised 
that public education about the system had been virtually 
non-existent for several years but is critical to fostering 
understanding and public confidence in the system. 
People must be aware of their rights before they can 
exercise their rights. 

Although Bill 103 says that the director shall provide 
publicly accessible information about the process and 
arrange for the provision of assistance to the public, it 
doesn’t provide any details as to how this will be accom-
plished, nor does the government commit to any public 
funding. Both details and funding are necessary. 

The PPAO also supports the LeSage report’s recom-
mendation that individual police services must participate 
in educating the public. At a minimum, each police force 
should appoint an officer or multiple officers to dis-
seminate information to the public and respond to public 
inquiries and complaints. 

All Ontarians must also have access to the complaints 
system, irrespective of their location or where they live. 
The LeSage report acknowledged the need to recognize 
the geographic diversity of Ontario. However, Bill 103 
does not fully support this recommendation and merely 
says that the director “may” establish regional offices. 

One final method of increasing accessibility concerns 
limiting the power of the director to refuse complaints, 
which can be found on page 15 of our submission. The 
director is afforded broad powers to refuse to deal with 
public complaints under Bill 103. We are concerned that 
meritorious complaints will be dismissed for reasons of 
administrative efficiency or lack of education or 
discrimination concerning mental illness. 

Individuals have no mechanism of appeal if the di-
rector rejects their complaint. Thus, we recommend that 
complaints be dismissed only if the complaint is clearly 
without merit and there is no likelihood that further 

investigation will establish merit. Complainants should 
have a right of reconsideration by the director, a right of 
appeal to the Ontario civilian police commission and, as 
a last resort, a right to appeal to the Ombudsman. 

If the proposed legislation isn’t amended to reflect our 
recommendations, at a minimum, definitions should be 
provided for “frivolous and vexatious,” “made in bad 
faith” and “public interest,” terms that are used with 
respect to refusing complaints. 

I’m now going to turn to the topic of limitation 
periods, which is found on page 17 of our submission. 
Bill 103 says that a person can only bring a complaint 
within six months of the alleged misconduct. We feel this 
time frame contravenes the general limitation period of 
two years for most civil actions, as found in the Limit-
ations Act. 

A short limitation period is particularly onerous for 
consumers of mental health services. Due to the cyclical 
nature of many mental illnesses, some clients may not be 
able to assert their rights for an extended period of time. 
Due to the stigmatization and lack of respect for the 
rights of persons with mental illness, some victims may 
not realize that they’ve suffered an injustice. Others may 
realize that their rights were violated, but they were 
initially too vulnerable to take action or were concerned 
that it would impact on their level of access to services 
and supports in the future. Thus, the short time frame 
precludes many individuals from exercising their rights, 
and we feel it should be extended to two years. 
1420 

I’m going to speak for a few moments about informal 
resolution, and that can be found on page 18 of our sub-
mission. Bill 103 permits informal resolution in certain 
circumstances when a complaint is thought to be “not of 
a serious nature.” While the PPAO agrees that informal 
resolution can be useful, we must be mindful of the in-
herent power imbalance in such a process. Complainants 
may feel compelled to agree because otherwise their 
complaint may be rejected. Forced mediation can also 
have the effect of revictimizing the complainant. 

Several changes should be made, in our opinion. First, 
it should be the director who should suggest the use of 
informal resolution. Second, the term “not of a serious 
nature” should be defined, otherwise the referral of such 
complaints is susceptible to subjectivity and abuse. Third, 
there should be a written acknowledgement prior to en-
gaging in informal discussions to indicate that the com-
plainant was informed of the process. Fourth, the 
mediators should be neutral parties with no ties to the 
police. Fifth, statistics should be maintained about the 
numbers and outcomes of times when informal resolution 
is used. And finally, complainants should be able to 
receive legal advice and assistance. 

On page 21 of our written submission, we discuss our 
position regarding the rights of persons making com-
plaints, that they would be better protected with the 
additional oversight of the Office of the Ombudsman. 
Unfortunately, section 97 of Bill 103 explicitly prevents 
the Ombudsman Act from applying. 
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André Marin, the Ombudsman of Ontario, has spoken 
about the dangers of not allowing his office to have 
jurisdiction over police complaints. He has asked, “Who 
will guard the guards themselves? Who will keep this 
new provincial body in check and independently in-
vestigate complaints against it?” He also points out that 
Ontario will be the only province without external 
accountability of its complaints system. The PPAO 
agrees with the assertions made by the Ombudsman and 
that the Ombudsman should have jurisdiction over the 
police complaints process. 

The last topic I will discuss is police identification, 
and that can be noted on page 23 of our submission. To 
initiate a complaint, individuals must provide some sort 
of identifying information about the police officers who 
are the subject of the complaint. This can be a huge 
obstacle. Some clients may have difficulties seeing or 
remembering the four- or five-digit badge number of the 
officer, especially if they are agitated or if it’s dark where 
they are. It can also be hard for clients to report sufficient 
details about an officer’s physical description due to the 
fact that some officers will look the same in their 
uniform. Many complainants are too intimidated to ask 
officers at the time of the incident for identification. 
When PPAO clients have asked for an officer’s name or 
badge number, they are often denied such information. 

The need for name tags was recognized by both the 
LeSage report and various police forces across the 
province, including the Toronto Police Service, who now 
require officers to wear name tags. Thus, the PPAO 
recommends that the legislation require officers to wear 
visible name tags as it will heighten accountability. 

Mr. Simpson will now conclude our submission. 
Mr. Simpson: The Psychiatric Patient Advocate 

Office is pleased that the government is changing the 
province’s police complaints system. However, there are 
many flaws with the proposed system under Bill 103, 
most notably the failure to establish a truly independent 
civilian body. This is extremely disappointing given the 
input from Ontarians and the resulting LeSage report. 

We encourage the standing committee on justice 
policy to consider our recommendations and to imple-
ment them to strengthen the police complaints process 
and bring justice to those who are most vulnerable and 
marginalized. 

As the proposed legislation represents an opportunity 
to shape the delivery of one of our most important civic 
services, we urge you to seriously consider adopting our 
recommendations, to the benefit of all Ontarians. 

The Chair: Thank you. We have about a minute left. 
Is there anyone who has a pressing question? 

Mr. Kormos: Yes, I do. 
The Chair: All right. Mr. Kormos. 
Mr. Kormos: First: just an incredibly articulate, bold, 

thorough and intelligent analysis, and I appreciate it very 
much. 

Informal resolution: That’s not new. That existed in 
the 1997 legislation, and the language is identical. I think 
one of the most frustrating things is that they’re not 

talking specifically—that is to say, the government—
about, let’s say, a mediation program. Lord knows, after 
they abolished the Human Rights Commission, which is 
of course what they just did with Bill 107, and all of the 
great potential for mediation that was contained within 
that, I’m worried that the informal resolution, without the 
disciplines and safeguards that are inherent in a profes-
sionally functioning mediation structure, is not medi-
ation. 

Mr. Simpson: I guess that’s part of our concern as 
well: Is it going to be an informal process just to make 
complaints go away without careful review? I guess 
that’s our concern. There are things at times that do go to 
mediation that would be better to go to investigation 
because of the importance of the issue or the possibility 
to make systemic change. So I think that’s why we think 
that this section needs more attention. 

Mr. Kormos: Which is why I’ve presented a motion 
that requires that the director approve the informal 
resolution if it’s being proposed by a chief of police, that 
it has to be approved before it can be engaged in by the 
director, which implies the process as well. 

Mr. Simpson: Right. 
The Chair: Thank you. We’re out of time, but, Mr. 

Zimmer, you have a very brief question? 
Mr. Zimmer: Yes, just an observation. Your last 

sentence was that you wanted to see a system that was 
fair for “all Ontarians.” I’ve listened very carefully to 
your submission. I have in my mind that the psychiatric 
patients are whom you represent, and on the receiving 
end of the complaints, of course, are the police officers. 
But I’d be very interested in any observations you might 
have about ensuring that the people on the receiving end 
of the complaints receive a fair shake in this process. It 
seems to me that we’ve just heard it from one side of the 
equation, so how do you balance it off to ensure that the 
police officers on the receiving end of the complaints, in 
very difficult circumstances, in a lot of cases, dealing 
with psychiatric patients—that their rights, if you will, 
are guarded? 

Mr. Simpson: I guess I would say that we’ve got to 
remember that our clients are very vulnerable, and there’s 
often a power imbalance between them and the police 
officers. But if you look at the cover letter to our sub-
mission here, I think we recognize what you’re saying, 
that the police need to be able to do their job unimpeded 
by concern that their actions will come under unwarrant-
ed scrutiny. That’s some of that. But again, it’s about 
educating police officers, having consumer survivors part 
of that education, having local police departments set up 
advisory committees to work with police where there’s 
that intersection of policing and mental health issues so 
that the public is well served. Hopefully, our comments 
haven’t been taken as a swipe at the police, because 
that’s not what’s intended. Our whole presentation—I 
hope that what you’ll get from this is the need for this 
system to be truly independent, that complaints not be 
referred back to local police departments for investi-
gation and referral because that’s no different than what 
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we have right now. So let’s make it truly independent and 
strike out that word “referral” to local police depart-
ments. 

The Chair: Thank you. Just to be fair to the— 
Mr. Dunlop: We’re fine. 
The Chair: You’re fine? Okay, thank you. 
Thank you for your presentation. 
Mr. Simpson: You’re welcome. 

ONTARIO ASSOCIATION 
OF CHIEFS OF POLICE 

The Chair: The next deputation is the Ontario Asso-
ciation of Chiefs of Police. I think there’s been a change 
here. We have Deputy Chief Chuck Mercier, Bruce 
Brown and Brian Fazackerley. I hope I got that correct. 

Mr. Kormos: Chair, while they’re being seated, I 
want to thank Mr. Fenson. It is a very, very good and 
thorough briefing note on the issue of “clear and con-
vincing,” and a good read. Thank you kindly. 

Mr. Avrum Fenson: You’re welcome. 
The Chair: Good afternoon, and welcome. So again, 

the rules are basically that you have 20 minutes to pres-
ent, and in any time that you don’t use during your 20 
minutes the three parties will have an opportunity to ask 
you questions. 

Mr. Chuck Mercier: Thank you, Mr. Chair. The 
Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police, the OACP, is 
pleased to make its submission with respect to Bill 103, 
An Act to establish an Independent Police Review Di-
rector and create a new public complaints process by 
amending the Police Services Act. We were involved 
throughout the consultation process that led to this legis-
lation and we remain keenly interested in it. 
1430 

With me today are Bruce Brown, director of legal ser-
vices for the London Police Service, and staff inspector 
Brian Fazackerley of the Durham Regional Police 
Service. We have come here today as representatives of 
Ontario police leaders who are responsible for adminis-
tering and overseeing the operations of police services 
across the province. Of particular interest to us is the 
manner in which we interact with and serve our commun-
ities in that context. 

Our statutory mandate at section 41 of the act, which 
will remain unchanged, includes “ensuring that members 
of the police force carry out their duties in accordance 
with this act and the regulations and in a manner that 
reflects the needs of the community, and that discipline is 
maintained in the police force.” This may be contrasted 
with the roles and interests of other stakeholders, includ-
ing police bargaining agents who, while having a vested 
policy interest in the fairness and effectiveness of the 
process, bear no statutory responsibilities for and play no 
direct role in the day-to-day performance management of 
police officers as do we, the police chiefs. 

It is up to you, our elected decision-makers, to enact 
good public complaint legislation that serves the interests 
of all the communities, including the men and women 

who serve as police officers in Ontario. We are here to 
comment on areas of the legislation where positive 
changes are proposed and to outline areas that we feel 
need to be reconsidered. Let me be clear: Police leaders 
in this province support a complaints process which is 
fair and effective. Any process which seeks to distance us 
from the people we serve in the area of public complaints 
will not be supported by the Ontario police leaders. 

The OACP has long been a proponent of civilian 
oversight in the complaint process. The OACP favours a 
complaint process that is effective, efficient and, above 
all, fair in both substance and appearance for the com-
plainant and the involved officers, as well as to their 
police service. We expressed this opinion to Mr. LeSage 
as well as to Minister Bryant on a number of occasions. 
There seems to be a widespread misconception that 
civilian oversight in the complaint process does not cur-
rently exist. This is not true or accurate, in our view, and 
we feel that, overall, the experience of the past 10 years 
with the current system amply supports our position. 

The legislative policy direction in Bill 103 seeks to 
make the role and function of the independent oversight 
aspects of the process more obvious and apparent. To 
accomplish this, distance is being placed between the 
chief of police and the members of his or her community 
at the precise point where that community member be-
comes aggrieved with police services, policies or officer 
conduct. 

Efficiency, effectiveness and timeliness of a police 
chief’s direct response to a citizen’s complaint will clear-
ly be affected by this system. This is because the com-
plaint must first be processed and screened by an 
independent police review director before the chief ever 
sees it. The spontaneity and personal touch that might 
now attend local complaint intake is being supplanted by 
the policy requirement to ensure independent oversight at 
the earliest point of the complaint initiation. We feel that 
this systemic cost is unwarranted in the vast majority of 
police complaints. 

A general comment is that there will be administrative 
confusion in dealing with civilian oversight of com-
plaints, since the administration of the public version will 
rest with one minister of the crown while another min-
ister continues through a commission to oversee internal 
complaints as well as the statutory appeal function. 

We do recognize, and we so indicated to Justice 
LeSage and Minister Bryant, that some changes were 
necessary in the civilian oversight process. One change 
that was made which we endorse is found in sections 66, 
67, 68 and 69. The test for holding a hearing into mis-
conduct is now “reasonable grounds to believe” rather 
than the former test of “may constitute misconduct.” We 
believe that this measure will reduce the number of un-
necessary hearings. 

Subsection 85(6) states that sick time credits may no 
longer be used for a disposition without a hearing penalty 
pursuant to clause 85(1)(e). The OACP is in agreement 
with this measure. Having said this, the OACP seeks to 
bring your attention to some anomalies and procedural 
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problems that we believe can only be addressed in the 
legislation itself and cannot be corrected later by regu-
lation. 

Standing of complainant: One significant difference 
between the proposed legislation and the existing scheme 
is that any member of the public may now file a com-
plaint regarding police conduct, not just someone directly 
affected. The OACP asks, “What will happen if a 
genuine complainant is later identified and comes for-
ward in the course of the investigation? Would this 
person who initiated the complaint then remain as a full 
party to the complaint and any entailed proceedings, or 
will the real complainant then assume that role?” This is 
not explicitly spelled out in the legislation. 

Not of a serious nature: The words “not of a serious 
nature” continue to be used in the new legislation to 
delineate formal from informal procedural options for 
resolution. We have found this to be an issue with many 
complainants. The perception on the part of the com-
plainant when the conduct is found to be “not of a serious 
nature” is that we are minimizing or diminishing the 
significance of the behaviour. It makes communication 
difficult. We would recommend a revision of those words 
to “conduct that may appropriately be dealt with other 
than through a formal hearing,” or words to that effect. 

Suspension with pay: Subsection 89(5) prohibits a 
suspended police officer from exercising his or her 
powers and authority vested in him or her. It is not 
obvious to us that this would have the same legal effect 
as declaring the power and authority of a police officer 
under these circumstances suspended, rather than simply 
saying they are enjoined from exercising these for the 
time being. The language of this section should be made 
clearer. 

Administrative response to unsatisfactory work per-
formance continues to be problematic under the proposed 
legislation. Subsections 89(1) and (2) continue to restrict 
suspension with pay to suspicion of misconduct under 
section 80 but not suspicion of unsatisfactory work per-
formance. This is an anomaly, and suspension should be 
available for gross incompetence as well as for mal-
feasance. This is repeating a mistake made in the last 
overhaul in 1997. It should be fixed if we ever hope to 
effectively use the concept of unsatisfactory work per-
formance. 

Internal complaints: The bill separates completely the 
processes for public versus internal complaints, leaving 
oversight of the latter with the renamed Ontario Civilian 
Commission on Police Services under the Ministry of 
Community Safety and Correctional Services. In repli-
cating features of the present process, a mandatory 
attempt at informal resolution was left in place in the in-
ternal complaints process prior to moving to disposition 
without a hearing, subsection 76(10). This really makes 
no sense in the context of a strictly internal process with-
out a public complainant. A chief should have the author-
ity in any case to deem informal resolution to be 
inappropriate based on his or her knowledge of the situ-
ation and to move directly to disposition without a 
hearing. 

1440 
Appeal decisions: Pursuant to clause 87(8)(d), the 

Ontario Civilian Police Commission would be given the 
power, on appeal, to order a new hearing before the chief 
rather than confirm, vary, revoke or substitute their deci-
sion for the decision below, which are the present 
options. For municipal-regional police services, the cost 
of a repeat administrative hearing complete with court 
reporter on a conduct issue would be significant, and to 
this point we have managed without it. 

In conclusion, the OACP again wishes to express its 
appreciation to Justice LeSage, Minister Bryant and 
members of this committee for extending to us the oppor-
tunity to have input on significant legislation that impacts 
a core aspect of our daily function as police leaders. 

We have listed a number of other technical issues and 
anomalies that we have identified in the attached appen-
dix. Subject to any questions from the committee mem-
bers, we leave our comments with you and trust they will 
be of assistance to you in your important deliberations. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation. We have 
about nine minutes left, and we start with the Liberal 
Party for questions. 

Mr. Crozier: Thank you, Chief, for your presentation. 
It’s good to have you with us today—and, through you, 
thanks to the OACP. 

There has been some difference of opinion when it 
comes to the question of independence and therefore the 
need that some see to have the Ombudsman involved in 
this complaints process. In fact, the Ombudsman was 
referred to in a recent article in the Toronto Sun. It’s 
mentioned that Marin wants oversight of the office, 
which he claims falls under his jurisdiction, and is quoted 
as saying, “You”—I guess it would be the government—
“are creating this new commission that falls under my 
jurisdiction, but you are removing oversight by the 
Ombudsman with this nasty section.” 

I would differ with him in that it doesn’t come under 
his jurisdiction, because the act explicitly says it doesn’t. 
Secondly, it’s not without precedent, in that the Ombuds-
man doesn’t have authority—it says in their own ma-
terial—when it comes to hospitals, long-term-care 
facilities, children’s aid societies, universities, school 
boards and municipalities. So here is our difference of 
opinion. Some say the Ombudsman should be involved; 
some say not. Any comment to that? 

Mr. Mercier: I can appreciate the comments, the 
opinion of the Ombudsman. Policing affects every citizen 
of this province and every aspect of our society. This is 
what makes your challenge very difficult. What’s 
happened in the past, in changing the style of legislation, 
is that everybody wants a piece of it but nobody wants 
responsibility over it. To make it blunt, there are too 
many cooks in the kitchen and it fails, and people wonder 
why. As I indicated, the chiefs of police under the act are 
specifically mandated to be responsible for conduct with-
in their police services. We challenge anyone who is dis-
satisfied with that to approach us and we will do the best 
we can to address those needs. We work very well with 
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all aspects of our society. To introduce another aspect or 
another dimension of the public complaints system at this 
stage of the game, with an introduction of another over-
sight body of the Ombudsman’s office, to me just com-
plicates the issue that you’re trying to resolve. 

The Chair: Thank you. We move to the Progressive 
Conservative Party. 

Mr. Dunlop: Thank you, Deputy Mercier, for being 
here today and for your presentation. I noticed, as I went 
through the presentation, that you made reference to 
some changes that should be made and it’s also referred 
to in the appendix. If the government would not adopt 
recommendations or any amendments to the legislation, 
can you live with the legislation the way it is directly put 
towards you now? 

Mr. Mercier: I think what’s going to occur with the 
legislation is, again, we are changing the public com-
plaints system. As we know, historically, every time we 
change that system, it becomes very—there are many 
grey areas within the legislation that make it confusing. 
It’s going to impact the men and women on the front line. 
I can see it causing difficulties with relation to delays. 
Officers view that as an area of unfairness. I think, as it 
evolves, the mechanism of trust will present itself, as it 
always has in the past. What police service leaders of 
Ontario have always asked for was proper investigative 
practices, and this is not found everywhere. Do not try to 
hire dentists to do surgical work. It’s always very 
complicated. 

So I would think we have to proceed very cautiously. 
The success of this legislation will depend on the individ-
uals involved making this process work out of fairness 
for everyone: the complainants and the police officers. 

Mr. Runciman: Deputy Chief, I don’t have a list of 
the complaints. I know it has been compiled for us. I’m 
just wondering about the Durham experience over the 
last two years. Have you ever done an analysis—I know 
there is a breakdown of the dismissed complaints and so 
on for your area. I just wondered if you have ever done a 
breakdown. We were told by the Attorney General’s staff 
yesterday that, based on the British experience, they 
expect, initially at least, a surge in complaints as a result 
of the passage of this legislation. You talked about 
officer time, etc. I wonder if you’ve done any kind of 
analysis on what that means to your service. 

Mr. Mercier: We are not afraid whatsoever with the 
number of complaints or where they come from or from 
who, as long as they are presented to us in a logical way. 
Last year in Durham region—I can speak for Durham 
region—we answered close to 200,000 calls for service, 
and we had 100 public complaints. Of those complaints 
in the year 2006, 12 were found to be frivolous and 
vexatious or in bad faith; 21, after investigation, were 
found to be unsubstantiated; 43 were resolved; four were 
past the six-month time period; two were third-party 
complaints; two were informally resolved. Those were 
the dispositions of those complaints. 

We do have a highly trained and respected profes-
sional standards unit. I would think, when you look at all 

of the feedback we get from our community in Durham 
region, we are well respected by our public. Public opin-
ion poll after public opinion poll shows that people in our 
community feel they have accessibility to our police 
service. They feel that they are able to communicate 
openly and honestly, particularly with the police leaders, 
when they have issues surrounding complaints. I’m 
trying to comprehend why people feel that they have an 
issue with lodging complaints. I think our reputation in 
Durham, which is reflected throughout the province, is of 
openness and fairness. 

Mr. Runciman: I think public opinion polls reflect 
that the public at large are very supportive and have a 
great deal of confidence in the police services in the 
province of Ontario. 

Mr. Mercier: And our data is no different than the 
data supported by the special investigations unit. 

The Chair: We’ll move on to the NDP. Mr. Kormos? 
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Mr. Kormos: Thank you kindly. I don’t know if you 
saw the recent—newspapers retain pollsters who do these 
polls from time to time on, “Who do you trust most?” 
Never mind police; do you know where politicians 
ranked? Really, it was cold down in that basement, and 
dark. 

Your first paragraph on page 3, “This may be con-
trasted with the roles and interests of other stakeholders, 
including police bargaining agents who, while having a 
vested policy interest,” blah, blah, blah: I don’t see this as 
adding to your submission at all. What are you telling us? 

Mr. Mercier: I think it’s very clear that, under the act, 
police chiefs have responsibility over this. 

Mr. Kormos: Yes, but you’re saying as compared to 
what? The Police Association of Ontario or local police 
associations? 

Mr. Mercier: They are responsible for the member-
ship and their interests. Basically, we are just highlight-
ing the difference between— 

Mr. Kormos: So what are you warning us about here? 
Mr. Mercier: Well, we feel that we’re responsible 

and we have responsibility from a cost factor, from a 
human resource factor, in managing our service. We’re 
just telling you that the police associations do not have an 
interest in those operational issues. 

Mr. Kormos: All right. Therefore? 
Mr. Mercier: Therefore, we don’t believe that they 

should be there at the front door when complaints are 
received. We’ve heard their submissions that they want 
to be notified and have a time period when public com-
plaints are first received, and we don’t really find that 
that is of any importance or relevance in this service. 
Officers who have complaints have the freedom to 
contact their associations, and we find that works. 

Mr. Kormos: Okay. On page 7, “Not of a serious 
nature”—because the informal resolution is the same lan-
guage as exists in the 1997 law. Some people are reading 
stuff into it, and I wish it were true. Can you illustrate or 
give us some examples of what informal resolution has 
meant in terms of your experience, a for-example? 
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Mr. Mercier: The statement itself of “not of a serious 
nature”—people find it serious. 

Mr. Kormos: Yes, I hear that, but I’m talking about 
the informal resolution part. 

Mr. Mercier: The informal resolution works quite 
well. 

Mr. Kormos: Tell us about it. 
Mr. Mercier: Most of the complaints that we receive 

are complaints of behaviour, interpretation of officers’ 
actions. 

Mr. Kormos: Okay. A police officer calls me a “shift-
less, useless politician who should be ashamed of himself 
for taking taxpayers’ money.” I complain about that. 

Mr. Mercier: Absolutely. So you come in and we sit 
with you, and one of the pieces would be, “What are you 
looking for from this officer?” In most cases, the com-
plainant is looking for an apology. A lot of times, they’re 
looking for the officer to understand their complaint and 
what their point of view is. 

Mr. Kormos: And you conduct this session? 
Mr. Mercier: Yes. 
Mr. Kormos: And what’s the outcome, in your ex-

perience? 
Mr. Mercier: I find in the majority of cases the offi-

cers will fully understand the point of view. It will be ex-
plained that, “This complaint has come in about your 
action.” There’s always a difference in opinion on what 
transpired, but you core it down to the main issue of 
understanding the other person’s point of view. To me, 
the whole concept of the resolution is to form a respect 
for one another’s point of view in understanding where 
they are coming from, and, if your behaviour was not 
appropriate, that you understand that and you adjust your 
behaviour. That usually is very satisfying to the com-
plainant. Most of them do not want officers to be charged 
under the police act; they just want that behaviour to 
cease. 

Mr. Kormos: I appreciate that. 
The Chair: Thank you for appearing before the com-

mittee today. 
Mr. Crozier: Chair, just to correct the record, I wasn’t 

trying to give the deputy chief a promotion, although he 
might deserve one, when I called him “Chief.” 

Mr. Mercier: Thank you very much, sir. 

JO-ELLEN WORDEN 
The Chair: Our next deputation is Jo-Ellen Worden. 
I think you know that we are generally following a 

rule of 20 minutes for your presentation. Take your time, 
and afterwards, the three parties can ask you questions. If 
you need water, there’s water right there too. 

Ms. Jo-Ellen Worden: Thank you very much. Ladies 
and gentlemen of the standing committee on justice 
policy, honourable ministers, members of the opposition, 
third party members and other honoured guests and 
speakers, firstly, I wish to acknowledge Justice LeSage 
for his efforts in conducting inquiries into our province’s 
current Police Services Act. 

Secondly, I wish to thank the Honourable Michael 
Bryant, the Attorney General of Ontario, for his attention 
to a surmountable obstacle the people of our province 
have been facing for some time; namely, the inadequacy 
of the current Police Services Act in addressing various 
pressing needs of the citizens and adherents in the 
province of Ontario. 

It is my understanding that it is the Police Services Act 
that governs the duties, expectations and code of conduct 
for those individuals who interact with some of the most 
marginalized and vulnerable populations of our province, 
i.e., law enforcement personnel. 

I am going to speak to an issue I have found that many 
officers and civilians in the province of Ontario reluctant-
ly acknowledge not only exists but apologetically, and 
anonymously of course, admit is widespread in our 
nation. Unfortunately, despite our surreptitious awareness 
of this crisis as not only a frightening reality for many 
spouses and children of police officers who daily suffer 
in silence, fear and shame, this crisis is also an ugly scar 
on the reputations of the thousands of members of our 
police services in this great country who endeavour to 
conduct themselves with the utmost of integrity, honour 
and courage in both their professional and personal lives. 
It is a crisis in this nation that no one seems able to 
effectively resolve and even fewer have the courage to 
publicly confront. 

Members of the standing committee on justice policy, 
I believe that you can demonstrate your firm commitment 
to eradicating this crisis by mustering up the courage for 
the sake of the province to formally and publicly address 
this plague at its core and ensure its abolition. This terri-
fying epidemic that is infecting our municipalities, prov-
inces and nation is that of police-perpetrated domestic 
violence. 

For those of you members who may not be familiar 
with this term, it is a syndrome referred to in a document 
sent to me by the Ministry of the Attorney General’s 
office to describe domestic violence that occurs at the 
hands of men and women who have been trained in the 
tactical manoeuvres of intimidation, interrogation, 
manipulation, deception, power and control. It is the term 
used to describe the workplace harassment and the 
domestic violence that occurs at the hands of the very 
officers bound by oath to serve, protect and uphold the 
law. 

Members of the standing committee on justice policy, 
although Bill 103 goes a long way in attempting to 
address many of the inadequacies of the current Police 
Services Act by establishing an independent police re-
view director and creating a new public complaints pro-
cess, it does nothing to either acknowledge or publicly 
address the harassment, discrimination, exclusion, hu-
miliation and gender-based violence numerous female 
police officers are forced to endure on a daily basis at the 
hands of their colleagues. 

Furthermore, Bill 103, on its surface, appears to do 
tragically less for the thousands of spouses, ex-spouses 
and child members of an incestuous subculture who are 
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attempting to escape the police-perpetrated domestic vio-
lence with their physical and emotional well-being intact. 

As distasteful as this subject matter is for politicians to 
acknowledge, for those who daily experience the vio-
lence, it is far worse to endure. May I respectfully sug-
gest a modification to Bill 103 that specifically identifies 
and addresses the issue of police-perpetrated domestic 
violence as an existing and previously ineffectively 
addressed reality in our province. 

Members of the standing committee on justice policy, 
there must be a legislated mechanism in place to expose 
and deal with this issue as 100% intolerable in our 
province and nation. This hushed known reality is a com-
plete violation of our citizens’ trust, our citizens’ safety, 
the Police Services Act, the Ontario Human Rights Code, 
the Criminal Code of Canada as well as victims’ con-
stitutional right to equal protection under the law. 

I beseech this committee to understand that for any 
proposed amendments to the Police Services Act, part V, 
to be maximized in their effectiveness, they must include 
a mechanism for addressing specific complaints related 
to allegations of police-perpetrated domestic violence as 
an entity unto itself. These changes must be a legislated 
amendment of the Police Services Act and incorporated 
directly as a modification or addition to Bill 103’s 
substitution of the repealed Police Services Act, part V, 
not merely understood as being included as a part of 
some regulatory requirement, policy or procedure. 
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I am going to cite an example of an ineffective regu-
latory requirement that indeed addresses the expected 
police response to domestic violence but does not include 
adequate provision for the victims of domestic violence 
that occurs at the hands of law enforcement personnel. 
My example is the legislated/regulatory requirements of 
the adequacy standards regulation. In a 12-page docu-
ment entitled LE-024, contained in the policing standards 
manual, 2000 edition, required by the Solicitor General, 
these regulations or guidelines do not adequately: 

—recognize that law enforcement personnel and their 
families are members of a subculture with its own family 
dynamics, different from other traditional family units; 

—label police-perpetrated domestic violence as an 
entity unto itself that is different from the domestic 
violence that occurs at the hands of non-law-enforcement 
personnel; 

—address police-perpetrated domestic violence as a 
syndrome of both active and passive behaviours, includ-
ing the often cascading residual effects of repeated 
victimization at the hands of police officers and the 
current resolution protocol; 

—declare that this type of abuse often includes a 
number of actions perpetrated by police officers that may 
appear insignificant, trivial or even petty when viewed in 
isolation, but that collectively often form a carefully 
premeditated, tactically executed series of events that 
amount to continuous revictimization and abuse. 

To quote the document, “Section 29 of the adequacy 
standards regulation requires a police services board to 

have a policy on investigations into domestic violence 
occurrences. In addition, section 12(1)(d) requires the 
chief of police to develop and maintain procedures on 
and processes for undertaking and managing investi-
gations into domestic violence occurrences.” 

However, in the document, LE-024, as incorporated 
into the professional standards manual, there is a mere 
one sentence that vaguely gives reference to allegations 
of domestic violence that involve police officers. I recog-
nize that in the 21st century we don’t like using labels for 
just about anything. However, if there is not a legislated 
acknowledgment of this epidemic, I guarantee that there 
will be victims of police-perpetrated domestic violence 
who have been sentenced to a lifetime of abuse and re-
victimization by these officers and the existing com-
plaints process. 

The primary piece of this puzzle is for the government 
to acknowledge, prior to the upcoming election, that 
police-perpetrated domestic violence not only exists in 
Ontario but is even facilitated by some colleagues of the 
abusers and by the justice system itself. Victims of this 
type of abuse often suffer in fear for their own lives and 
their children’s safety. They often suffer in complete, 
paralyzing silence and isolation. This government needs 
to recognize that under the current legislation, and even 
with the proposed amendments outlined in Bill 103, 
attempts by victims of police-perpetrated domestic vio-
lence to file a complaint often fall on furious and pro-
foundly deaf ears. 

Police-perpetrated domestic violence needs to be iden-
tified in the Police Services Act. Moreover, officers need 
to be firmly cautioned that any behaviours that can be 
seen as either aggressive or passive attempts to abuse 
members or former members of their families will auto-
matically be investigated by a team of individuals who 
have expertise in the area of repeated tactical victim-
ization. 

Victims need assurances in their province’s legislation 
that police forces will not be permitted to slough these 
matters off as family court disputes or custody and access 
issues. Furthermore, police services in our province must 
be put on notice and mandated to be forbidden to attempt 
to influence or coerce victims of police-perpetrated 
domestic violence to informally resolve their issues 
without an official investigation. 

I suggest modifications to the portions of Bill 103 
related to part V of the current Police Services Act to 
specifically address the complaints of police-perpetrated 
domestic violence as follows: 

(1) Complaints of police-perpetrated domestic vio-
lence are an entity unto themselves and need to be 
addressed in a classification separate from traditional 
complaints about officers’ conduct, services sought or 
received. 

(2) Victims ought to have appointed, by the director, a 
point person representing their best interests and the best 
interests of their families who has the responsibility to 
keep them apprised of the investigation. 

(3) There needs to be a zero-tolerance policy of 
domestic violence involving police officers, and when a 
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complaint is made involving an officer, there must be the 
immediate relinquishing of all service weapons, includ-
ing guns, batons, pepper spray and handcuffs, until such 
time as the director is satisfied that the allegations have 
been appropriately addressed as either substantiated or 
false. 

(4) The director must also bear in mind that unsub-
stantiated allegations of police-perpetrated domestic 
violence do not inherently mean they were false or 
vexatiously made allegations. 

(5) There ought to be a mechanism in place, legislated 
into Bill 103, that specifically acknowledges complaints 
of police-perpetrated domestic violence as automatically 
referable to two separate professional standards criminal 
investigation bureaus. I suggest that the first involve the 
independent police review director and its commission, 
and that the second separate, parallel investigation must 
involve the special investigations unit of the Ontario 
Provincial Police or the equivalent unit of the Royal 
Canadian Mounted Police. Further, these investigations 
must be conducted independent of the involved forces’ 
own professional standards investigation in allegations of 
police-perpetrated domestic violence. 

(6) In addition, there needs to the legislated establish-
ment of a specialized unit under the direction of the 
independent police review director that has specialized 
training in the investigation of the tactics and effects of 
police-perpetrated domestic violence as outlined in the 
Wetendorf handbook, provided to members of the stand-
ing committee on justice policy. This specialized unit 
under the director must be established within six months 
of Bill 103’s approval and royal assent. 

(7) This portion of the bill needs to include the 
legislated implementation process of local programs in 
all jurisdictions of the province that specifically address 
complaints of police-perpetrated domestic violence. I 
have provided a handbook for the standing committee on 
justice policy that describes the development, imple-
mentation and administration of programs to address 
domestic violence involving law enforcement personnel. 
This handbook was created as a result of numerous tragic 
events. Most noteworthy to families of officers sworn to 
uphold the law is the case of the murder of Crystal 
Brame, victim of police-perpetrated domestic violence 
and wife of the Tacoma, Washington, chief of police. 

(8) As this is legislated as a prophylactic measure in 
addressing complaints of police-perpetrated domestic 
violence, I suggest that all supporting family members—
of age, of course—of police officers should be respect-
fully approached by perhaps the chaplain of the involved 
family member’s force and given a written copy of their 
force’s policy, procedure and important contact numbers 
pertaining to domestic violence involving police officers. 

(9) Also, there needs to be incorporated into this bill 
legislated accountability requirements for police service 
boards to protect the families or former family members 
of the officers they trained in the tactical combat 
manoeuvres found in many cases of police-perpetrated 
domestic violence. 

(10) Included in Bill 103, the director should be man-
dated to enforce a fixed fine against officers found guilty 
of police-perpetrated domestic violence that is in addition 
or runs consecutive to all criminal court convictions. 

Finally, I challenge the honourable members of the 
standing committee on justice policy with the com-
mission to ensure that there be legislated accountability 
for the Office of the Independent Police Review Director, 
to undertake within two years of the creation of this 
office to spearhead a campaign to see that police-
perpetrated domestic violence is identified as an indict-
able offence under the Criminal Code of Canada. 

Modifications to Bill 103 as set out above should 
prove for some to be an act of mercy towards these offi-
cers, who have a yet-unnoticed propensity towards vio-
lence, as they are encouraged to examine their own 
conduct and are reminded of the position of trust and 
social responsibility to which they’ve applied. By leg-
islating changes to the Police Services Act in this way, 
the government will prevent many incidents of police-
perpetrated domestic violence before they even occur. 
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Police-perpetrated domestic violence is a carcinogenic 
violation of the intimate trust of the some of the most 
vulnerable citizens of our province who desire only to 
encourage and support our honourable, noble and truly 
courageous men and women in uniform. Thank you. 

The Chair: Thank you. We have six minutes left. 
That’s two minutes for each party, and we start with the 
Progressive Conservatives. 

Mr. Runciman: Thank you for being here. I know it 
takes some courage to appear before a committee and, in 
some ways, without getting too personal about it, giving 
us your experiences with respect a very significant issue. 
This is the second time during the course of these delib-
erations that we’ve heard these concerns expressed, so I 
think it’s very worthy of the committee’s consideration 
and I thank you for bringing it to our attention. 

The Chair: Mr. Kormos. 
Mr. Kormos: Thank you kindly. I’ve had some con-

siderable experience with this phenomenon through my 
constituency office. It is indisputable that a police officer 
who is an abuser in a domestic violence context doesn’t 
have, by the very nature of being a police officer, and his 
or her role in the criminal justice system being what it is, 
a status at the very least that makes him or her distin-
guishable in some respects. Abusers are abusers, violent 
people are violent people, and people who engage in vio-
lence upon their family members and partners are people 
who engage—you understand what I’m saying. Your 
point is incredibly well made. 

Most of the Wetendorf handbook is American-sourced 
at this point, but there’s been an incredible amount of 
research done on this, well beyond what you’ve been 
able to provide us with today, so it’s an important issue. 
I’m not sure that this particular bill is the means by which 
the special circumstances that the victim of a police 
officer as a domestic abuser faces—I’m not sure. You’ve 
made some proposals, some suggestions. There’s legis-
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lation here in the province of Ontario—Mr. Runciman 
will recall it—that gave 24-hour-a-day access to a justice 
of the peace to protect a partner who is threatened with 
violence, in terms of getting an immediate restraining 
order, a next-party restraining order. I remember the 
committee hearings on it. Legislation unfortunately has 
never been declared. The absence of that legislation, the 
absence of the proclamation of that legislation, is in and 
of itself a matter of serious concern, because what it gave 
a victim of potential violence or violence—a victim of 
threat or actual violence—was, pursuant to legislation, 
entitlement to access a JP, regardless of the day or night, 
to get an immediate restraining order. Then you unravel 
the stuff later, but you save lives that way. As I say, that 
law is on the books. It hasn’t been proclaimed. Perhaps it 
illustrates the lack of real interest even now by Legis-
latures—I don’t say “legislators”—in making the 
adequate investments to address these sorts of things in a 
meaningful way. I wish I could say something to you that 
would give you perhaps more optimism about something 
happening here and now. I can’t do that. Your point is 
well made. Thank you for participating. 

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kormos. We’ll move then 
to the Liberal Party. 

Mr. Zimmer: Thank you for your submission. It’s 
very detailed and very lengthy. I’ll read it through 
carefully. Thank you for bringing it to the committee. 

The Chair: Thank you for appearing before that com-
mittee today. 

REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF PEEL 
POLICE SERVICES BOARD 

The Chair: We’ll move then to our next deputation, 
the Regional Municipality of Peel Police Services Board: 
Emil Kolb, the chair, and Michael Metcalf, chief. Once 
again as a reminder, the process is that we have 20 
minutes per deputation. Feel free to use up as much of 
that time to make your presentation. If there’s any time 
left, we’ll allow the members of the different parties to 
ask you questions. 

Mr. Michael Metcalf: Thank you, Chair. 
Mr. Emil Kolb: Good afternoon. I’d like to first intro-

duce myself. I’m Emil Kolb, regional chairman of Peel 
since 1991 and a member of the police services board 
since 1991. I’ve been chair of the police services board 
since 1995 and was just re-elected for the 12th year. I 
believe that makes a little difference, in that I have been 
one of the longest-serving board chairs in Ontario, 
allowing me to bring you a unique perspective to this. I 
remember the birth and the end of the public complaints 
commission, I remember the problems with the SIU 
when it was started, and I believe I have something to 
offer in this debate. 

With me today I have Chief Metcalf, a 37-year-old 
veteran of our police services and our chief for the past 
nine years. 

You’ll be happy to know that I’m not going to read all 
my comments and remarks, but I have given written 

submissions that have been handed to the clerk. You can 
review the contents of that with a number of obser-
vations. However, in the interests of time, I’d like to 
make three key points and then ask the chief to speak to 
put my comments into the real world that the chief 
operates in. Then, at the end, I’d like to make two final 
recommendations and welcome any questions if we have 
time left. 

As an open comment, the Peel police services board 
believes in effective civilian oversight. It has always 
mystified me as to why we’ve never had civilian over-
sight of our provincial force and our Canadian force, the 
RCMP. However, to be effective, civilian oversight must 
include the issue of resources, it must be targeted to 
achieve societal and organizational results, and it must 
place accountability with those in the position to achieve 
the first two goals. In my view, the legislation does not 
meet the last objective. 

In terms of governance, most important is the 
relationship between the board and the chief. Witness the 
fact that you have a board chair and a chief here today. 
We need to work together, we need to understand the 
roles, and we have to have clear accountability of the 
chief to the board. 

Bill 103, in clause 56(1)(b), limits the authority of 
police boards to establish guidelines for dealing with 
public complaints, and it impacts our relationship with 
our chief. The chief’s accountability is to the board. A 
board’s authority is to establish policies for the chief, and 
the police services shouldn’t be impacted by the bill. 

I speak about this important relationship. Linked to it 
is the fundamental principle that is the cornerstone of 
policing in Canada: the independence of the chief in 
operational matters and his or her ability to administer 
the day-to-day operation of police services. 

I have been involved since 1974, as regional coun-
cillor, mayor and chair, in establishing police budgets. 
I’ve seen them go from $9 million to $240 million over 
that period of time. I’ve seen police policies being 
established that monitor the performance of the chief, 
which allowed the chief to work without us interfering 
with him. 

We strongly believe that the chief of police must have 
full authority over the internal complaints and discip-
linary process. Section 78 of the bill unduly restricts that 
right. It gives the new complaint body the right to direct 
the chief as to the manner in which he is dealing with a 
purely internal matter, and it appears to open up the 
internal discipline process without any legislative 
triggers. We believe this is a significant restriction on the 
chief of police, and it is without precedent. It also forces 
the chief to potentially relocate any resources without 
consideration for other matters. 

We don’t think you meant that outcome, but that’s the 
way we read it, and we need certainty that this will not be 
allowed to happen. 
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Other aspects of the bill also impinge on the role of 
chief as currently set out in the legislation, and these are 
in our written submission. 
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My first point: Let the boards do the job with their 
chief, without unnecessary interference. 

My second point: Ensure that chiefs retain their 
operational independence. This is very important. 

My third point is all about money. I was there when 
the SIU was formed and I remember them struggling 
when they first started out because they didn’t have 
enough funds to do what the legislation asked them to do. 
The SIU lost a lot of credibility with the community and 
also they lost a lot of ground as a result. Today, we have 
a very good relationship with the SIU because it has the 
proper mandate and sufficient funds to do its job. 

It is vital that the new complaints body be properly 
funded from the outset to fulfill its mandate. Equally, it 
cannot meet its mandate if it is seen as a downloading on 
municipalities. I have in our written submission how this 
can occur. The last thing you want is Mayor McCallion, 
one of my mayors, and other politicians calling this a 
downloading from provincial government. It doesn’t help 
us, it doesn’t help you and it doesn’t help the community. 

I have two final recommendations that I’d like to 
make at the end. Now I would ask Chief Metcalf to relate 
some of his experiences and thoughts on the legislation. 

Mr. Metcalf: Thank you, Mr. Kolb. 
I just wanted to take a couple of minutes. I’ve had my 

job for about a year now. I always promised the board 
that we would have a transparent organization. I am truly 
a firm believer in the fact that people are responsible and 
accountable for what they do. I’ve vowed to the board 
that I will do that, and I think over the last year that I’ve 
shown that. 

We’ve made a concerted effort internally to educate 
our officers in relation to public complaints and offer an 
analysis and the reason why. We have made some pro-
gress. For example, in 2003, we had 219 public com-
plaints. We reduced that to 180 in 2004. In 2005, they 
went down to 158 and, as of 2006, we had 130. I think 
that is an improvement. I think people within the region 
feel comfortable with it because I’ve told them publicly 
that I will deal with their complaints. An example I 
would use is not something we’re really proud of, but 
we’ve been recently in the paper with several officers 
who were found drinking in a public place, behind a 
furniture store. Unfortunately, 24 officers were charged 
on that. That’s not something we really want to be proud 
of, but every officer who attended that so-called party 
was charged and that’s subsequently before a hearing 
officer right at the moment. 

I guess when I look at the legislation, my main con-
cern is in relation to subsection 61(5) as it refers to 
referral to an external agency. I think we’ve been very 
fair in the region of Peel. We’ve helped OCCPS on 
several investigation, but that’s when I’ve had the staff to 
help them out. We’ve helped out Halton and several 
other agencies heading up north. My concern is that the 
director can basically contact me and redirect my 
resources. I don’t know if that’s the spirit of the legis-
lation, but that certainly is my concern. I have a lot of 
other issues. This is an important issue, but I have a lot of 

other issues, and I wouldn’t really feel comfortable with 
somebody else redeploying the resources from the 
region. Basically, that’s my concern. 

Mr. Kolb: I want to thank the committee for hearing 
us out today on this legislation. I want to make two final 
recommendations, but first I want to say that no matter 
how hard everyone tries, it is unlikely that we’ll get it 
right the first time. I’ve been around for a long time and I 
know how difficult that is to do. 

Our first recommendation, then, would be that there be 
an automatic review of the working of the IPRD by the 
Ontario Legislature no later than five years after it’s put 
into place. 

My second recommendation has to do with what isn’t 
in Bill 103. Many groups during the consultation asked 
for changes to the Police Services Act, including section 
47, which speaks to the accommodation; and also 
requesting the right of a chief to suspend an officer 
without pay. My perspective is there is more in the Police 
Services Act that needs to be looked at. Why do I say 
that? I say that because policing is a big business. The 
combined budget for the Peel Regional Police and the 
Toronto Police Services Board—the two largest muni-
cipal police services in this province—is over $1 billion 
per year. If it’s big business, it is also a complex busi-
ness, even more so since 9/11. Yet, the Police Services 
Act is 16 years old and has not been reviewed or even 
been looked at for over a decade. 

My second recommendation would be that the pro-
vincial government plan a review of the Police Services 
Act to create a model and a framework for policing that 
would look at Ontario for the 21st century. I know that 
that is not your concern today, but for this committee I 
would say that if you could discuss this with your caucus 
members and look into the future, it would be very, very 
helpful for our communities. 

Again, I want to thank each and every one of you for 
giving us the opportunity on behalf of the police services 
board of Peel and the chief, and I welcome any questions. 
But I do want to leave you with one thought, and that is: 
How many oversight bodies do we really need? 

The Chair: Thank you for that presentation. We have 
about nine minutes left. So we’ll start with the NDP for 
three minutes or so, and then we’ll go around. 

Mr. Kormos: Clearly, we haven’t had enough, or they 
certainly haven’t been adequate. It’s entirely inappro-
priate to speak about the allegations around the Peel 
police officers who are in the midst of having their 
allegations dealt with. And no criticism of you, Chief 
Metcalf, but surely, when an incident like this takes place 
and when it is discovered, as it appears, by accident, with 
the possibility that it wasn’t a one-of, doesn’t that compel 
some introspection and reflection on the part of the force, 
its management, the board? However pleased you might 
be about apprehending police officers who engage in 
inappropriate or illegal conduct, the real question is, what 
kind of climate, culture, in what kind of Petri dish does 
this sort of behaviour grow and survive? That’s my 
concern, I suppose in a very broad context, because Bill 
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103 doesn’t address that either, does it? It doesn’t address 
it at all. It gives an opportunity for complainants to point 
the finger with respect to a given incidence and then 
trying to develop the best possible scenario for dealing 
with it. 

So I put this to you—and you’re a long-time police 
officer; you’re a long-time board member: It’s naive to 
suspect that if, in a given police service—disregarding 
your particular scenario of Peel—certain police officers 
are engaging in certain activity that they get caught 
doing, they’re the only police officers who are engaging 
in inappropriate behaviour because they are but the ones 
caught doing it. Because the first level of oversight is the 
police board, isn’t it? That’s the first level of civilian 
oversight. And again, there’s a tendency for boards to 
say, “Oh, well, no. We don’t micromanage. It’s none of 
our business. We set policy and budgets, and then it’s up 
to the chief of police to run the show. Don’t have civil-
ians coming to the board complaining about the police. 
There’s a process internally.” How do you, as a long-time 
police officer, a competent one, a capable one, a sincere 
one and now at a top level of management—what have 
been your thoughts about that sort of thing? How do you 
deal with it? How do you get reflective about that? 
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Mr. Metcalf: You don’t ignore it, Mr. Kormos. I 
think, first thing, you can’t ignore it at all. I don’t really 
agree with you that it’s not an example that I should 
bring here. This was just— 

Mr. Kormos: No, I said I don’t want to speak to it. 
Mr. Metcalf: Okay. I just brought that as a simple 

example that I take the actions of my officers, specific-
ally, very seriously, and I’m not going to tolerate this 
type of behaviour. I think they know now. It might take a 
while, but they’re going to know that I’m serious about 
this. 

Mr. Kormos: Isn’t there something wrong with the 
climate in which this even took place? 

Mr. Metcalf: Well, 37 years—that’s a tough question 
to answer. It’s like socialization amongst politicians, I 
guess; it’s like socialization with bankers. It’s just the 
social aspect of being together after work. But there are 
licensed premises to do that in, as I said in the press. 

Mr. Kormos: But that’s not the issue. 
Mr. Metcalf: No, it isn’t, but the issue is— 
Mr. Kormos: Mr. Zimmer and I have never shared a 

drink after our work here at Queen’s Park. 
Mr. Metcalf: And you’ve never in a parking lot, at a 

soccer game or a baseball game? 
Mr. Kormos: No, no; I don’t go to soccer games. Mr. 

Zimmer offered me the flask and I turned it away. 
Mr. Metcalf: Well, you have to keep it all in per-

spective—I did ask some reporters who were on to me 
about that—in relation to the officers’ conduct. I said to 
the reporter, “Have you never had a beer in a parking lot 
after a baseball game, basketball game or soccer game, 
whatever it is?” He finally said yes, with a lot of hesit-
ation. But that is not the issue; I agree. 

Mr. Kormos: Am I shocked and horrified by it? No, 
because you’re right: It’s not planting evidence; it’s not 
beating the hell out of suspects. At the end of the day, 
I’m not outraged by it. I’m asking you about the climate, 
though, in which that sort of stuff can take place. How 
can a force or service at its board become sufficiently 
reflective upon it to build a climate in which people 
wouldn’t think of doing that? 

Mr. Kolb: I’d like to jump in as the chair of this 
board. It’s a very appropriate question you ask, but I 
think I was quoted once in the paper and said, “We stand 
100% behind our chief.” It is true that it happened and it 
happened in Peel. Are we proud it happened? No, we 
aren’t. But you know what? All these people are human 
beings, even though they are police officers. 

We take great pride in a small thing like that that 
really didn’t have maybe—on the part of them, there may 
be two or three issues there that should not have hap-
pened, but in most of the case, it didn’t interfere with 
anything. So sometimes you have to stand behind your 
people. We take great pride in writing stories all about 
this, but what about the good things that a police officer 
does every day out there on the street? Should I not stand 
behind them? Of course I should. Should I condemn the 
union? Of course not. 

The Chair: Okay. We’ve gone beyond the three 
minutes here. 

Mr. Kormos: We don’t need Bill 103 for the good 
cops, do we? 

The Chair: Thank you, and don’t say I never gave 
you enough time, Mr. Kormos, because I gave you lots of 
time. 

Mr. Kormos: I took the time. 
The Chair: I know, but I gave it to you and I 

accommodated you. 
Mr. Kormos: You’re a decent and fair-minded Chair. 
The Chair: Thank you. I’m going to use that in my 

campaign literature. 
We’ll move on, then, to Mr. Zimmer. 
Mr. Kormos: “Kormos calls Berardinetti decent and 

fair-minded.” 
The Chair: I like that—front page of my campaign 

literature. 
Go ahead. 
Mr. Zimmer: In the interests of getting the rest of the 

people here who want to speak, I’ll forgo my time, but 
we’ve got to keep an eye on the clock. It’s not fair to— 

Mr. Kormos: But there is no clock in this room. 
The Chair: All right. We’ll move on to the Conser-

vatives. 
Mr. Runciman: Yes, we are running behind. I want to 

thank you both, Mr. Chairman and Chief. For a 37-year-
old man, we can see how much stress there is in policing. 

Mr. Metcalf: I only wish. 
Mr. Runciman: Despite some of the challenges you 

may be facing now, I have to say that both the police 
service and the board have been leaders in policing for 
many, many years and have a great deal to be proud of. 
Once again, thank you for being here. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation. 
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ONTARIO COUNCIL OF AGENCIES 
SERVING IMMIGRANTS 

The Chair: We’ll move on, then, to our second-last 
presentation this afternoon, the Ontario Council of 
Agencies Serving Immigrants. 

Ms. Debbie Douglas: Justice committee, my name is 
Debbie Douglas. I’m the executive director of the On-
tario Council of Agencies Serving Immigrants. I believe 
that our brief is being handed out. I am joined by Sri-
Guggan Sri-Skanda-Rajah, who is a board member of 
OCASI, and my policy and research coordinator, Roberto 
Jovel. Roberto will be doing the presentation. 

But before we start I did want to add my voice to Han-
sard supporting what Jo-Ellen Worden said. I not only 
felt she was brave, but one of the things that she didn’t let 
you know is that she is the previous wife of a cop who 
left her for dead at one point and she didn’t go away. So I 
do want to add OCASI’s voice to supporting the issues 
that she raised in terms of how we address, whether it’s 
through Bill 103 or through one of the various services 
acts, police-perpetrated violence against women. I 
thought that was the most politically brave thing I’ve 
seen in a long time, to have her come here. 

I will turn the microphone over to Roberto. 
Mr. Roberto Jovel: Thank you, Debbie. Good after-

noon, everyone. The Ontario Council of Agencies Serv-
ing Immigrants would like to thank the standing 
committee on justice policy for this opportunity to raise 
our suggestions for improvement on Bill 103. 

We welcome the bill’s general thrust towards an inde-
pendent mechanism for police review that is grounded on 
civilian oversight. We do see the current form of the bill 
as a significant step in the right direction towards 
building public trust in the police services in Ontario and 
offering the public a meaningful and accessible mech-
anism for complaints and reparation. 

That said, OCASI thinks that there is room for solid 
improvements to the bill. We want to bring your attention 
back closely to Judge LeSage’s report. Some of the 
recommendations that we are going to raise today mirror 
somehow Judge LeSage’s work and some are our own 
recommendations. 

So I would like to start very briefly by indicating a 
little bit of what the immigrant and refugee perspective 
can bring into this discussion. You may have been hear-
ing from other not-for-profit organizations or social 
justice organizations or other equity-seeking organiz-
ations that have participated in this consultation about the 
issue of systemic barriers that inform the functioning of 
different governmental institutions. Also, school boards, 
the media, corporations and different areas of our society 
and of our institutions show that there are systemic 
barriers which need to be addressed. In the case of immi-
grants and refugees, these barriers become visible when 
individuals interact with the institutions, and thus the 
differential treatment that may be linked to the migratory 
status may combine with racism, with gender injustice, 
with poverty, with religious discrimination, ableism, 

illiteracy, discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation 
or gender identity or expression, and lack of sufficient 
English-language skills, among other forms of oppres-
sion. 

By way of quick examples of how this has affected the 
communities that we work with and that we serve, racial 
profiling—you may have heard of this a couple of times 
during the last interventions—has been a problem when 
it comes to racialized newcomer youth. 
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Islamophobia after September 11, 2001, has also 
affected communities who have their origins in the 
Middle East, South Asia and North Africa. So there are 
concerns about how these systemic issues play towards 
the communities that we serve, not only within the 
police. It’s not a matter of singling out a particular form 
of services, but of course within the police services this is 
also something that needs to be addressed. 

Coming to our analysis of the bill and the recommend-
ations for improvement that we want to make, we would 
just like to remind everyone here that we subscribe to and 
support the full set of principles that frame Justice 
LeSage’s work as part of his terms of reference. To quote 
them briefly, there are four: 

“—the police are ultimately accountable to civilian 
authority; 

“—the public complaints system must be and must be 
seen to be fair, effective and transparent; 

“—any model of resolving public complaints about 
police should have the confidence of the public and the 
respect of the police; and 

“—the province’s responsibility for ensuring police 
accountability in matters of public safety and public trust 
must be preserved.” 

So there are four aspects or areas on which we would 
like to focus today, though, as Debbie has already said, 
we are supportive of the recommendations and the 
analyses that have been presented earlier today and yes-
terday, as well by organizations like the Metro Toronto 
Chinese and Southeast Asian Legal Clinic or the Urban 
Alliance on Race Relations from earlier today. So we 
make those recommendations ours too. 

But we’re going to focus on four particular areas. I’ll 
try to brief so that we can also have an exchange. 

The first one has to deal with the fact that Bill 103 
says that the independent police review director may start 
investigations regarding systemic issues. For the popu-
lation that we work with and the population that we 
serve, dealing with systemic issues shouldn’t be some-
thing that is left to the decision of “may.” We do think 
that this new independent police review director should 
have it as part of their mandate to actually have a work 
plan to deal with these issues. There are a number of 
issues. I already made a list of the kind of forms of 
operation that may be having a negative effect through 
police services. 

So the recommendations are as follows: 
(1) Bill 103 should ensure that expertise on systemic 

issues is brought to the independent police review 
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director by making it a requirement that the IPRD, the 
IPRD staff and the appointed investigators have demon-
strated expertise in addressing systemic issues effec-
tively—so in dismantling them too. 

(2) Bill 103 should further ensure that operational 
mechanisms to dismantle systemic barriers are integral to 
the IPRD’s description and functioning. 

(3) Bill 103’s commitment to tackle systemic issues 
should inform the work plan of the directorate by requir-
ing that the IPRD plan ahead its investigation endeavours 
that will be specifically geared towards addressing 
systemic issues that are relevant for equity-seeking com-
munities. 

(4) The IPRD, through his or her yearly reporting 
procedures, should highlight what has been done to 
counter systemic barriers and also list the trends in the 
field of systemic issues that will need to be addressed in 
the next year. 

So that’s the first area. 
The second area has to do with the consultation with 

equity-seeking communities that is needed to make this 
new mechanism work properly. As you know, the report 
by Judge LeSage recommended the use of several ad-
visory groups in the different regions that would be 
composed of members of the public and of the police as a 
key device for the workings of the new mechanism of 
independent police review. This is, of course, a key 
element in maximizing public trust and the community’s 
trust of the new mechanism and the way it will work. 

Since the knowledge about the various ways in which 
policing affects members of equity-seeking communities 
lies within the leadership of the communities themselves, 
we believe that this advisory group, or advisory groups, 
should have proper presentation of the knowledge that is 
out there in the leadership of the communities at stake. 
So OCASI recommends that Bill 103 should create an 
advisory group, making sure that it will be a meaningful 
and effective consultation process which is inclusive of 
community experts, who, as a result of their combined 
expertise, can cover systemic issues on grounds of race, 
culture, gender, sexual orientation, gender diversity, 
ability, literacy—the whole list of issues of concern. 

Further to that, we are recommending that the ad-
visory group be consulted by the IPRD in the context of 
hiring and appointment processes, in the context of 
developing the work plan of the IPRD, including the 
parts of the plan regarding investigation of systemic 
issues and in the establishment of procedural rules and 
the design and delivery of public education strategies. 

The third aspect in which we want to make a recom-
mendation has to do with dealing with the complaints on 
grounds of their importance for equity, regardless of who 
the complainant is. The concern is about subsection 60(4) 
of the bill, that says that when it comes to complaints 
regarding policies or services, the IPRD may decide not 
to deal with the complaints if the complainant was not 
directly affected by the policy or service in question. So, 
again, OCASI thinks that regardless of who the 
complainant is, a policy or service-related problem 

brought to the attention of the IPRD may have sufficient 
merit as to be considered a matter of equity and of public 
interest. So we are recommending that the current 
subsection 60(4) be removed from the bill. 

The final aspect we want to raise today has to do with 
the strict independence or the strict arm’s-length ap-
proach to investigations that are going to be carried out. 
We believe that no referrals of complaints should be 
made in a manner that compromises the independence of 
investigations. Bill 103 gives the IPRD the power to refer 
complaints to police chiefs for investigation, and while 
OCASI appreciates that such an aspect of the bill fosters 
ownership by police forces of the fairness agenda, we 
consider also that such a transfer of responsibilities is a 
loss of independence. Under such referrals, the investi-
gation becomes an internal investigation, even if the 
IPRD requires a police chief to deal with a complaint and 
carry an investigation according to precise instructions. 
So this is not a comment, again, on the police forces of 
Ontario; it is a comment on method and on methodolog-
ical guarantees of independence. 

So OCASI is recommending that all investigations in 
the context of the IPRD should be carried out by investi-
gators that are external to the police services and no 
referrals should be made that render investigations an 
internal police investigation. We’ll stop there. 

The Chair: Thank you. We have about seven minutes, 
and we’ll start with the Liberal Party. 

Mr. Zimmer: On the issue of how to structure the 
advisory councils, you told us the kinds of persons or 
stakeholder groups that should be on the council. Any 
idea on how to go about choosing the actual persons—
who should do the choosing, how should that be done, 
and so on? 

Ms. Douglas: Our sense is that, given that one of our 
key issues is that the director reports to the Legislature, a 
committee of MPPs be struck, whether or not it’s from 
the justice committee, including other staff within the 
Attorney General’s office, and that it’s an open call—
very similar to what we did with pulling together Ontar-
ians to look at our political system. We are very serious 
about this. We believe that if we are going to build trust 
about police oversight, then from the get-go we have to 
show that all of our processes are open and transparent. 
So what we are suggesting is that the committee that gets 
together be made up of people from Queen’s Park and/or 
other justices who have been involved in this issue. We 
would expect an all-party committee, for example, to be 
setting the criteria and those kinds of things, and then we 
will expect an open call across the province. 

Mr. Zimmer: That committee that you suggest would 
issue a call for— 

The Chair: Excuse me, Mr. Zimmer. Can you just get 
a bit closer to the microphone? 
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Mr. Zimmer: So that committee would issue a call, if 
there was an advisory council, say, for some jurisdiction 
in northwestern Ontario, “Who would like to sit on the 
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advisory council?” Their names would come in and we’d 
sort them out. 

Ms. Douglas: Yes. There would be an all-Ontario call 
with criteria set so people know that this is what we’re 
looking for: These are the criteria. Equity is an issue. 
You would list all of the kinds of things that Roberto 
talked about and then you would vet names. 

Mr. Zimmer: Thank you. 
The Chair: We’ll move on to the Progressive Conser-

vative Party. Mr. Runciman. 
Mr. Runciman: Thank you for the time and effort put 

into this contribution to our hearings. It’s very much 
appreciated. I have to say, I certainly agree with your 
perspective on reporting to the Legislature. I think that is 
the appropriate way to deal with this and I think it is the 
recommendation of Justice LeSage as well. 

Following along the lines with respect to the advisory 
committee, though, the wording that you’ve incorporated 
in your submission is rather narrow in terms of the 
individuals and groups that you feel should be partici-
pating. It strikes me as kind of Toronto-centric, as some-
one who represents small-town and rural Ontario. In fact 
you’re not emphasizing, although you did in your 
response to Mr. Zimmer talk about representation from 
across the province, but there’s no— 

Ms. Douglas: Absolutely. Geographical represent-
ation is part of that. 

Mr. Runciman: Certainly there should be regional 
representation, but I think it should be much broader than 
what you’re suggesting there. That’s my view. I see 
nothing wrong with having someone who’s had signifi-
cant and extensive experience in the policing community 
being part of that advisory committee as well, because I 
think it would be helpful in terms of giving that perspec-
tive to other participants. Thank you. 

Ms. Douglas: Absolutely, but I don’t think it’s polic-
ing history in and of itself. I think it’s the person who has 
demonstrated not only a policing history but a sense of 
how they believe policing should work within a demo-
cracy who should be given some sense within that. 

The Chair: Mr. Kormos? 
Mr. Kormos: Thank you kindly. I appreciate your 

highlighting of section 57: the power of the director “to 
review systemic issues.” The language of “may” has been 
raised at least once before by submitters. But it’s even 
more restrictive than that, because when you take a look 
at it, he “may examine ... issues of a systemic nature that 
are the subject of, or that give rise to, complaints.” So 
that really ties his or her hands in terms of being pro-
active, especially when you’ve got systemic issues that 
are part of the undercurrent, you see. So victims of it may 
not even know that they are victims of it, such that they 
can’t complain about it. Yet the director, with his or her 
powers and the tools available, could be in a position to 
have suspicion about them to warrant enough inquiry to 
determine whether or not that suspicion is then sub-
stantiated, so that she or he can then move on. 

The other part of that, of course, the reason that “may” 
is critical from the government’s point of view, is that if 

it said “shall,” then funding would become dictated by 
the needs of the director and his or her staff. When it says 
“may,” the extent to which the director exercises his or 
her power under this or, quite frankly, any other sec-
tion—you see, the ability to slough stuff off to local 
police forces is a way of triaging and a way of getting rid 
of stuff that the director’s office simply can’t handle 
because it’s underfunded. 

These are the red flags that are raised that frighten me 
and cause me a great deal of concern about how much 
civilian oversight there’s going to be, because at the end 
of the day the vast, vast majority of complaints, and 
increasingly so in an underfunded system, are going to be 
referred back to the police forces in which those 
complaints originated. 

Ms. Douglas: That’s an issue on both levels. One of 
the things we will continue to speak about to our chiefs 
of police around the province is that they don’t recognize 
the economic implications for their own budgets on this 
stuff. They have to look at that. Once you refer back, it 
becomes part of your prioritizing within the police 
services within whatever geographical area. So it has 
economic implications, the use of police, and I think they 
need to look at that outside of the decision-making. But 
the bigger picture is what you are saying. Yes. 

Mr. Kormos: Thanks for your contribution today. I 
appreciate it. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation and for 
being here today. 

Mr. Sri-Skanda-Rajah: Before we rise, may I add 
my voice to Debbie Douglas’s recommendation? I’m 
picking up on Mr. Kormos’s indication— 

The Chair: We’ve got to be careful with our time 
here. I’m under pressure. 

Mr. Sri-Skanda-Rajah: Fifteen seconds—that the 
Alan presentation referred to a very particular and special 
area. It appears that the Legislature has passed legislation 
but not declared it. It will be a tremendous asset to this 
justice committee if it can pull it together even though it 
may have been legislated in a previous government’s 
auspices or in a previous session. To retain the credibility 
of progressive work is to band together and recommend 
the declaration of that legislation. 

The Chair: Thank you very much for your time 
today. 

ABORIGINAL LEGAL SERVICES 
OF TORONTO 

The Chair: We’ll now move on to our last deputation, 
Aboriginal Legal Services: Brian Eyolfson, senior staff 
lawyer. 

Mr. Brian Eyolfson: Good afternoon, committee 
members. My name is Brian Eyolfson. I’m a lawyer at 
Aboriginal Legal Services of Toronto. I thank you for the 
opportunity to provide submissions and to present today. 

I realize I don’t have a lot of time, but I thought before 
I got to some specific provisions in Bill 103 I would like 
to just say a little bit about Aboriginal Legal Services of 
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Toronto, the agency I work for, and some of the issues 
that we deal with in the context of policing. 

First of all, ALST is a provincially incorporated non-
profit organization established in February 1990 to meet 
the needs of Canada’s largest urban aboriginal popu-
lation. One of the objectives of ALST is to assist the 
aboriginal community to exercise control over justice-
related issues that affect it, and one of the main issues 
that ALST has concentrated on over the past 16 years is 
the manner in which police services are provided to ab-
original peoples, both on and off reserve. 

ALST has developed a fair bit of expertise in deliver-
ing programs such as its legal aid clinic, its Gladue case-
worker program, the aboriginal criminal court worker 
program, the victims’ right program, and the community 
council diversion program. 

In addressing issues of policing and the aboriginal 
community, ALST was an active member of the Com-
munity Coalition Concerned about Civilian Oversight of 
Police and the Coalition Against Police Violence. ALST 
also appeared before the Ontario standing committee on 
administration of justice to address the community’s 
concerns with respect to police oversight in light of Bill 
105, the Police Services Amendment Act, 1997. In 
October 2003, ALST appeared before the police services 
board’s joint working group on race relations to comment 
on the group’s report. ALST is also currently represented 
on the special investigations unit director’s resource 
committee. 

ALST, through its daily contacts with the aboriginal 
community, has had, and continues to have, clients who 
report being mistreated by police services. These alle-
gations include such things as being subjected to random 
stops, and physical and verbal abuse. ALST has assisted 
numerous clients with filing complaints against the police 
pursuant to the Police Services Act, and with other sorts 
of complaints, such as human rights complaints. Re-
cently, ALST was a party at both the evidentiary and the 
policy portions of the Ipperwash inquiry examining the 
events surrounding the death of Dudley George, who was 
shot and killed in 1995 by an Ontario Provincial Police 
officer. 

There are a couple of main systemic themes that we 
see a lot in our work around policing and the aboriginal 
community. One is overpolicing, and the other is 
overvictimization of aboriginal people and underpolicing. 

In the Golden case, a case in which ALST intervened, 
the Supreme Court of Canada recognized that aboriginal 
people are overrepresented in the criminal justice system, 
and they are therefore likely to represent a dispropor-
tionate number of those who are arrested by police and 
subjected to personal searches, including strip searches. 
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The Report of the Aboriginal Justice Inquiry of 
Manitoba and the Royal Commission on Aboriginal 
Peoples reports are two reports that identify overpolicing 
as one source of systemic discrimination against ab-
original people. The Royal Commission on Aboriginal 
Peoples, in its report entitled Bridging the Cultural 

Divide, also noted that the aboriginal community experi-
ences the extremes of both overpolicing and under-
policing. “Underpolicing” refers to situations where the 
police choose not to act or act inadequately where there 
is evidence that crimes have been committed against 
aboriginal people. 

In light of these findings, ALST has a particular 
concern regarding the delivery of police services to the 
aboriginal community and any complaints mechanisms 
providing for the oversight of police and the delivery of 
police services. ALST supports the creation of an 
independent and impartial civilian oversight body. ALST 
also believes it’s important that any complaints system be 
accountable, accessible, fair and responsive to the 
aboriginal community in order to be effective and instill 
confidence. 

There are many aspects of Bill 103 that propose a 
significant improvement over the current police com-
plaints system. Part II.1, of course, creates the appoint-
ment of an Independent Police Review Director and the 
establishment of his or her office, including the creation 
of regional offices, and also provides significant powers 
to the director to conduct investigations into public com-
plaints about police conduct. The new part V prescribes 
that the independent director receives and reviews all 
complaints and may retain for investigation complaints 
about police conduct having regard to the nature of the 
complaint and the public interest. The director may also 
review issues of a systemic nature in some circum-
stances. Bill 103 also appears to permit the filing of third-
party complaints in some limited circumstances. These 
are all improvements. 

However, there are a number of areas in the proposed 
legislation which, in ALST’s submission, could be 
improved in order to create a more effective police 
complaints system and better instill confidence and trust 
in the public, including the aboriginal community. 

The first thing I wanted to address is the issue of 
accountability. The last presenters addressed this issue as 
well. There does not appear to be anything in the pro-
posed amendment that would actually assist in ensuring 
accountability to marginalized communities such as the 
aboriginal community. ALST submits that the amend-
ments should include provisions creating mandatory 
advisory groups or committees to the director, such as an 
aboriginal advisory group. Advisory groups could assist 
the director in carrying out his or her mandate more 
effectively by ensuring that the director receives valuable 
input from communities affected by particular systemic 
issues relevant to the director’s mandate. 

By way of example, I’ve referred in my submissions 
to section 7 of the Legal Aid Services Act, which ex-
plicitly provides that the board of Legal Aid Ontario shall 
establish advisory committees in particular areas of law 
and may also establish other advisory committees that it 
considers appropriate. Also, section 31.5 of Bill 107, the 
Human Rights Code Amendment Act, 2006, provides 
that the chief commissioner “may establish such advisory 
groups as he or she considers appropriate to advise the 
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commission about the elimination of discriminatory 
practices that infringe rights under this act.” 

The Honourable Justice LeSage recommended in his 
report on the police complaints system, at page 66, “The 
government should appoint community and police rep-
resentatives to an advisory group for each region. The 
groups would meet with the head of the new body to 
discuss systemic concerns, but would not direct the new 
body.” 

With respect to the aboriginal community in par-
ticular, Justice LeSage stated at page 83 of his report, “I 
believe that the new body should give special cons-
ideration to the needs of aboriginal communities in 
Ontario.” At page 84, Justice LeSage recommended that 
the new body “should make special efforts at outreach to 
the aboriginal communities in Ontario.” 

Therefore, ALST recommends that a provision be 
included in Bill 103 for the establishment of advisory 
groups, including an aboriginal advisory group, to assist 
the director in carrying out his or her mandate. 

I just wanted, also in terms of accountability, to briefly 
address the issue of review by the Ombudsman. Bill 103 
includes proposed amendments that, in ALST’s view, 
would detract from the accountability of the new police 
complaints system. Bill 103 grants significant powers to 
the director; however, at the same time, section 97 
explicitly removes anything done under part V of the 
proposed legislation from review by Ontario’s Ombuds-
man. ALST submits that this should be amended to 
permit the application of the Ombudsman Act. 

With respect to police officer resignations, I note that 
section 90 proposes that no further action shall be taken 
in respect of a complaint about the conduct of a police 
officer if the police officer resigns. ALST submits that 
police officers should not be able to avoid complaints 
about their conduct by resigning. The provision could 
also leave a complainant with no access to justice. In 
addition, there could be systemic issues or aspects to a 
complaint regarding police conduct which would then not 
get addressed as a result of this section. So ALST sub-
mits that complaints should continue if an officer resigns, 
irrespective of whether or not the officer is again 
employed by a police force within five years. 

In terms of fairness, I wanted to address the term “the 
public interest” that’s referred to a couple of times in the 
proposed legislation. A key section, subsection 61(6), 
proposes that the director “shall consider the nature of the 
complaint and the public interest” in deciding whether to 
refer or retain complaints about the conduct of a police 
officer. ALST has concerns regarding the manner in 
which this section, and in particular the reference to “the 
public interest,” will be interpreted and applied by the 
director when deciding whether or not to refer or retain 
complaints. It’s not clear what factors may be considered 
by the director in determining what is in the public 
interest. 

On this issue, Justice LeSage, in his report, at page 72 
recommended that consideration should be given to “the 
nature of the complaint, the circumstances surrounding 

the complaint, the public interest, the size of the police 
service, the rank of officer and any other relevant factors 
to determine whether the complaint is to be investigated 
by the new body” or referred. 

ALST is concerned that the interests of its client com-
munity may not necessarily be included in interpretations 
of “the public interest.” ALST also submits that the 
seriousness of a matter should also be considered as a 
relevant factor weighing in favour of the complaint being 
investigated by the director’s office. ALST also submits 
that complaints that include allegations of discrimination, 
racism or hate are of a serious nature and should always 
be retained by the director for investigation. 

In addition, the public interest should be considered in 
light of factors that instill public confidence and trust in 
the police oversight process, such as accountability, 
independence, fairness and transparency. 

ALST is also concerned that costs may be a factor in 
decisions about whether to retain or refer a complaint, 
particularly if the director’s office is not adequately re-
sourced to carry out its mandate. These cost factors could 
have the potential to erode the proposed legislation’s goal 
of providing independent investigations. 

Also, whether or not a complainant would consent to 
having his or her complaint referred could be a factor to 
consider in the decision. 

In summary, ALST submits that “the public interest” 
in subsection 61(6) should be qualified and interpreted in 
light of factors that would instill public confidence and 
trust in the police oversight process, such as account-
ability, independence, fairness and transparency. ALST 
also submits that complaints including allegations of dis-
crimination, racism or hate are of a serious nature and 
should always be retained by the director for investi-
gation. 

The term “public interest” also arises in another sec-
tion of the act, paragraph 3 of subsection 60(3). This 
proposes that the director may simply “decide not to deal 
with a complaint made by a member of the public if, in 
his or her opinion ... having regard to all the circum-
stances, dealing with the complaint is not in the public 
interest.” Again, there are no factors to guide a determin-
ation of what is in the public interest. ALST submits that 
paragraph 3 of subsection 60(3) is simply too broad, 
given that other provisions would provide the director 
with the broad discretion to decide to not deal with a 
complaint that is “frivolous or vexatious or made in bad 
faith” or that “could be more appropriately dealt with, in 
whole or in part, under another act or other law.” 

I also wanted to address some issues of accessibility, 
in particular, third-party complaints. Justice LeSage, in 
his report, recommended that any person should be per-
mitted to file a complaint, including third parties. Bill 
103 appears to permit third-party complaints, but the 
circumstances in which they can be made appear to be 
quite limited. 
1610 

Subsection 60(4) proposes that the “director may 
decide not to deal with a complaint made by a member of 
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the public about a policy of or service provided by a 
police force if the policy or service did not have a direct 
effect on the complainant.” This section appears to 
effectively preclude third-party complaints when it 
concerns the policies of or services provided by a police 
force. 

In addition, subsection 60(5) proposes that the “di-
rector may decide not to deal with a complaint made by a 
member of the public about the conduct of a police 
officer if the complainant is not one” of a prescribed 
class of persons. Many of ALST’s clients who are sub-
jected to mistreatment or abuse by police often feel that 
there’s no point in filing a complaint against the police as 
they’re not likely to be believed, or they fear for their 
safety. Many of these clients are disadvantaged and mar-
ginalized members of the community who have frequent 
interaction with police. Nevertheless, ALST submits that 
being accountable means being accountable to the entire 
community, including the disadvantaged and marginal-
ized people of Ontario, and it’s important that third-party 
complaints be accepted. 

Also, organizations that work with potential complain-
ants who may not be able to bring forward an individual 
complaint on their own should be permitted to file third-
party complaints on behalf of individuals. Accordingly, 
terms such as “member of the public” and “person” in 
subsection 60(5) of Bill 103 should be qualified to make 
it clear that organizations as well as individuals can file 
complaints. In addition, organizations that work with dis-
advantaged and marginalized communities are particu-
larly well-positioned to identity systemic problems in 
policing, particularly with respect to policies of or ser-
vices provided by police, so it’s our submission that 
subsection 60(4) should be amended to permit third-party 
complaints in relation to police policies and services as 
well. 

I also wanted to address the limitation period in the 
proposed legislation. Justice LeSage in his report iden-
tified the current limitation period as a key concern in the 
context of a discussion of systemic barriers that impede 
the filing of complaints. Justice LeSage noted that the 
current “limitation period simply does not recognize the 
reality that there are times when it is inappropriate for a 
potential complainant to file a complaint within six 
months from the time of the events upon which the 
complaint is based.” 

ALST submits that the six-month limitation period is 
simply too short. In ALST’s experience, clients are often 
dealing with criminal matters in relation to the same 
incident that may give rise to a police complaint, and 
these criminal matters often proceed quite slowly. Justice 
LeSage in his report, in recognition of this, recommended 
that the limitation period for filing complaints remain at 
six months. However, he also recommended that if a 
complainant is charged and a complaint relates to the 
circumstances upon which a complainant is charged, the 
six-month limitation period should run from the time 
when the charges are finally disposed of. ALST submits 
that this recommendation should be adopted. Alter-

natively, ALST submits that a one-year limitation period 
would be more appropriate, and it would also be in 
keeping with recent legislative amendments such as sub-
section 34(1) of Bill 107, the Human Rights Code 
Amendment Act, 2006, which will extend the time for 
filing a human rights complaint in Ontario from six 
months to one year. 

Lastly, I’d like to address systemic issues. Section 57 
of Bill 103 proposes that the director “may examine and 
review issues of a systemic nature that are the subject of, 
or that give rise to, complaints made by members of the 
public.” ALST submits that addressing issues of a sys-
temic nature is extremely important, as many of the 
complaints that our clients deal with regarding police 
conduct and the provision of police services are systemic 
in nature. ALST submits that section 57 is an important 
provision in the new legislative scheme. However, we’re 
concerned that section 57 may be unduly limiting in 
terms of which systemic issues can be dealt with. It 
appears from the language of section 57 that the director 
would be limited to examining and reviewing issues of a 
systemic nature only if such issues “are the subject of” or 
“give rise to” complaints made by members of the public, 
so the ability of the director to examine systemic issues 
appears to be dependent upon members of the public 
raising such issues in public complaints. 

Individuals who file complaints about police conduct, 
policies or services may not necessarily recognize and 
raise systemic issues relevant to their complaints. ALST 
submits that organizations should be able to raise com-
plaints of a systemic nature directly with the director. As 
previously submitted, organizations that work with dis-
advantaged and marginalized communities are particu-
larly well-positioned to identity systemic problems in 
policing. Particular organizations, such as the SIU, 
should be able to file systemic complaints, as the SIU 
gathers information that allows the identification of 
systemic issues in policing. 

The Chair: Mr. Eyolfson, you’ve got about one 
minute left. If you could just wrap up, I’d really appre-
ciate it. 

Mr. Eyolfson: Okay. Then I’ll just conclude by say-
ing that ALST recommends that section 57 should be 
amended to clarify that organizations can file complaints 
of a systemic nature with the director. 

The Chair: Thank you. That concludes our time. 
Mr. Kormos: Chair, before you adjourn, I have a 

matter I want to raise. 
The Chair: Does it involve Mr. Eyolfson? 
Mr. Kormos: Well, he’s welcome to stay to hear me 

raise it. 
I’m putting this to the parliamentary assistant: If he 

could, when we’re doing clause-by-clause tomorrow—
because the “not in the public interest” provision again 
raised red flags for me as well. I would appreciate if you 
or ministry staff could give us some idea or sense of 
what’s being contemplated here and whether it’s a nega-
tive or a positive. In other words, if somebody complains 
that they saw an undercover police officer smoking a 
joint in the course of a drug investigation, would it not be 
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in the public interest to pursue that as misconduct, not-
withstanding—what is it?—section 23 or so of the Crim-
inal Code? Is that what’s intended, or is it “not in the 
public interest” because it isn’t of sufficient significance? 
I really don’t know. Surely the drafters contemplated 
something when they gave the director that power, and I 
think it’s important for us to understand what’s being 
contemplated. 

The Chair: Mr. Zimmer, do you want to address that? 
Mr. Kormos: No, no, I don’t expect him to address it. 

Mr. Zimmer: I’ll take the matter under advisement. 

Mr. Kormos: We’re going to ask when we get to that 
section. If staff could be ready to give us an answer, we’d 
appreciate it. 

The Chair: Thank you. The committee stands ad-
journed until tomorrow at 10 a.m. in the same room, 
when we’ll start clause-by-clause. 

The committee adjourned at 1617. 
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